A Decoz® Numerology Chart Analysis

for

Steve Jobs

by

Hans Decoz

Birth data:

Steven Paul Jobs

February 24, 1955

© Copyright 1985, 2003, Hans Decoz.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	6
LIFE PATH	6
BIRTHDAY	7
EXPRESSION	8
MINOR EXPRESSION	10
HEART'S DESIRE	10
MINOR HEART'S DESIRE	12
PERSONALITY	12
MATURITY	13
L/E BRIDGE	14
H/P BRIDGE	15
KARMIC LESSONS	15
HIDDEN PASSION	17
PLANES OF EXPRESSION	17
PLANE OF EXPRESSION PHYSICAL	18
PLANE OF EXPRESSION MENTAL	18
PLANE OF EXPRESSION EMOTIONAL	18
PLANE OF EXPRESSION INTUITIVE	19
BALANCE	19
RATIONAL THOUGHT	19
CORNERSTONE	20
SUBCONSCIOUS SELF	20
CHALLENGES	20
PINNACLES	22
CYCLES	25
TRANSITS	26 27
THE PHYSICAL TRANSIT THE MENTAL TRANSIT	-
THE MENTAL TRANSIT THE SPIRITUAL TRANSIT	28 30
ESSENCE	31
PERSONAL YEARS	34
PERSONAL TEARS PERSONAL MONTHS	41
PERSONAL MONTHS PERSONAL DAYS	52
	52

SUMMARY

Birth name: Steven Paul Jobs Short name: Steve Jobs Birth date: February 24, 1955

•	
Your Life Path is 10/1	7
Your Birthday is 24	8
Your Expression is 28/1	9
Your Minor Expression is 9	10
Your Heart's Desire is 11/2	11
Your Minor Heart's Desire is 7	12
Your Personality is 8	13
Your Maturity is 2	14
Your Life Path / Expression Bridge number is 0	14
Your Heart's Desire / Personality Bridge number is 6	15 16
You have a Karmic Lesson 8 You have a Karmic Lesson 9	16
Your Hidden Passion is 1	17
Your Plane of Expression Physical is 1	18
Your Plane of Expression Mental is 17/8	18
Your Plane of Expression Emotional is 12/3	18
Your Plane of Expression Intuitive is 7	19
Your Balance is 9	19
Your Rational Thought is 46/1	20
Your Cornerstone is S	20
Your Subconscious Self is 7	20
Your First Challenge is 4	21
Your Second Challenge is 4	22
Your Third Challenge is 0	22
Your Fourth Challenge is 0	22
Your First Pinnacle (from birth until age 35) is 8	23
Your Second Pinnacle (from age 36 until age 44) is 8	24
Your Third Pinnacle (from age 45 until age 53) is 7	24
Your Fourth Pinnacle (from age 54) is 4	25 26
Your First Cycle (from birth until age 26) is 2	26
Your Second Cycle (from age 27 until age 53) is 6 Your Third and last Cycle (from age 54) is 2	26
Your Physical Transit for age 50 is E	27
Your Physical Transit for age 51 is E	27
Your Physical Transit for age 52 is V	27
Your Physical Transit for age 53 is V	27
,	
Your Physical Transit for age 54 is V	27
Your Physical Transit for age 55 is V	27
Your Physical Transit for age 56 is E	28
Your Physical Transit for age 57 is E	28
Your Physical Transit for age 58 is E	28
Your Physical Transit for age 59 is E	28
Your Mental Transit for age 50 is U	28
Your Mental Transit for age 51 is U	28
Your Mental Transit for age 52 is U	28
Your Mental Transit for age 53 is L Your Mental Transit for age 54 is L	29 29
Your Mental Transit for age 54 is L	29
Your Mental Transit for age 56 is P	29
Your Mental Transit for age 57 is P	29
Your Mental Transit for age 58 is P	29
Your Mental Transit for age 59 is P	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 50 is J	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 51 is O	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 52 is O	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 53 is O	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 54 is O	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 55 is O	30
Your Spiritual Transit for age 56 is O	31
Your Spiritual Transit for age 57 is B	31
Your Spiritual Transit for age 58 is B	31 31
Your Spiritual Transit for age 59 is S	32
Your Essence at the age of 50 is 9 Your Essence at the age of 51 is 14/5	32 32
Your Essence at the age of 52 is 13/4	33
Your Essence at the age of 53 is 13/4	34
Your Essence at the age of 54 is 13/4	
Your Essence at the age of 55 is 13/4	34
	34 34
Your Essence at the age of 56 is 18/9	
Your Essence at the age of 56 is 18/9 Your Essence at the age of 57 is 14/5	34
Your Essence at the age of 57 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 58 is 14/5	34 34 34 34
Your Essence at the age of 57 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 58 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 59 is 13/4	34 34 34 34 34
Your Essence at the age of 57 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 58 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 59 is 13/4 Your Personal Year for 2005 is 6	34 34 34 34 34 35
Your Essence at the age of 57 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 58 is 14/5 Your Essence at the age of 59 is 13/4	34 34 34 34 34

Your Personal Year for 2007 is 8 Your Personal Year for 2008 is 9 Your Personal Year for 2009 is 1 Your Personal Year for 2010 is 2	36 36 37 38
Your Personal Year for 2010 is 2 Your Personal Year for 2011 is 3 Your Personal Year for 2012 is 4 Your Personal Year for 2013 is 5 Your Personal Year for 2014 is 6 Your Personal Month for March 2005 is 9 Your Personal Month for April 2005 is 1 Your Personal Month for May 2005 is 2 Your Personal Month for June 2005 is 3 Your Personal Month for June 2005 is 3 Your Personal Month for June 2005 is 4 Your Personal Month for August 2005 is 5 Your Personal Month for September 2005 is 6 Your Personal Month for September 2005 is 6 Your Personal Month for November 2005 is 8 Your Personal Month for December 2005 is 9 Your Personal Month for January 2006 is 8 Your Personal Month for January 2006 is 9 Your Personal Month for April 2006 is 1 Your Personal Month for May 2006 is 2 Your Personal Month for June 2006 is 4 Your Personal Month for June 2006 is 5 Your Personal Month for June 2006 is 6 Your Personal Month for September 2006 is 7 Your Personal Month for September 2006 is 8 Your Personal Month for September 2006 is 8 Your Personal Month for November 2006 is 9 Your Personal Month for November 2006 is 9 Your Personal Month for December 2006 is 1 Your Personal Month for November 2006 is 9 Your Personal Month for November 2006 is 9 Your Personal Month for December 2006 is 1 Your Personal Month for February 2007 is 1 Your Personal Month for February 2007 is 1 Your Personal Month for April 2007 is 3 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for March 2005 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for April 2005	38 39 40 41 41 42 42 43 43 43 44 45 45 46 46 47 47 47 47 48 49 50 51 51 52 55
Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for May 2005 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for June 2005 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for July 2005 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for August 2005 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for September 2005 Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for October 2005	58 61 64 67 70 73

INTRODUCTION

About your Personal Reading

This reading was composed for you personally, Steve, and is based on your full name at birth, your date of birth, and the name you now use to introduce yourself. Please check your birth data on the title page to make sure the names and date of birth used are correct.

If you have two or more middle names or last names, you may find the names strung together. This is necessary to make Transit and Essence cycles function correctly. For example, the name John Patrick Henry Hancock would appear on the title page as John PatrickHenry Hancock.

Steve, your Personal Numerology Reading describes all aspects of your chart as they are understood in numerology, accurately and in-depth.

Each chapter starts with a short introduction telling you where this particular number is found and how it affects you. This is followed by the number itself. Often, you will find a double digit number followed by a single digit.

The meaning of your number is then explained in easy to read language. Steve, you don't need to know anything about numerology to be able to enjoy and benefit from this reading.

I hope you will enjoy your reading.

LIFE PATH

If ever there was a moment of total transformation, it was the moment of your birth. In that instant, you stepped through a door in time into a new reality -- the reality of human life. The most important number in your numerology chart is based on the date of your birth, the moment when the curtain goes up in your life.

Even at that moment, you were a person with your own unique character, as unique as your DNA. Everything that is you existed in potential, much like a play that is about to begin. Your entire life exists as a potential that has been prepared for. Steve, you have ultimate freedom to do with your life as you like: To fulfill its potential completely, or to make some smaller version of yourself. It all depends upon your effort and commitment. You make the decisions to fulfill, to whatever extent, the potential life that exists within you. That is your choice. In this sense, the possible you is implicit during the moment of your birth.

The Life Path number gives us a broad outline of the opportunities, challenges, and lessons we will encounter in this lifetime. Your Life path is the road you are traveling. It reveals the opportunities and challenges you will face in life. Your Life Path number is the single most important information available in your Personality

Page 6

Chart!

Your Life Path is 10/1

Steve, you are a born leader. You insist on your right to make up your own mind; you demand freedom of thought and action. You have drive and determination. You don't let anything or anyone stand in your way once you are committed to your goal. You assume the responsibility to be the protector and provider for those you love. You demand respect and attention and become irritated and even domineering when important things do not go your way.

You need to feel in command of important undertakings, and resist supportive roles. You seek the forefront and the limelight.

You are exceptionally creative and original and possess a touch of the unusual. Your approach to problems is unique and you have the courage to wander from the beaten path. You can be impatient with your shortcomings and those of others.

You are very concerned with your status and foster the appearance of success and self-satisfaction. The need to appear well off propels you to strive for growth, success and the finer things of life.

Steve, you should watch out for selfishness, conceit and the over-concern with appearance. You must guard against overzealous behavior, anger and aggressiveness. If these qualities are not brought under control you could become excessively domineering, vindictive and even violent. You perform best when you are left to your own devices. Ideally you should own your own business and be your own boss. Hold fast to your life's dream and work with the determination you possess to realize it. You can become overly stressed by your driven nature. Be careful about the food you eat and maintain an exercise program you enjoy. Competition sports are often a healthy outlet for a person with your drive, particularly sports involving running and swimming. Don't let pride and overconfidence be your masters. Remember, your talents and abilities are a gift from a higher source, which should promote gratitude and humility, rather than pride and conceit.

More often than not a person with a 1 Life Path will achieve much in life as long as the drive, creativity, originality and pioneering spirit are fully employed!

BIRTHDAY

The day you were born bears great significance in understanding who you are and where your talents lie. The day of birth indicates some special talent you possess. It is a gift to you that will help you along your Life's Path. Your day of birth is one of your four core numbers — the Life Path, Expression, and Heart's Desire being the other three. It is the least significant of the four core numbers, but perhaps the most finite, in that it reveals a specific ability you possess in a marked

Page 7

degree.

Your Birthday is 24

You are family-oriented, with a gift for restoring and maintaining balance and harmony in relationships. Steve, you are emotional and sensitive and like to demonstrate your love. You have a gift for both the healing and cultural arts.

You can be overly emotional and even melodramatic. You have a tendency to magnify your emotional issues, especially when they involve some kind of criticism of you.

You are willing to sacrifice much to maintain harmony in important relationships. You willingly provide a soft shoulder to cry on or a ready ear to hear out someone's travail.

You are energetic, responsible and helpful, but your sympathetic nature may cause you to interfere in relationships and get you into trouble. Know your limits. At the same time, you must avoid being taken advantage of.

Your artistic talent goes in many directions, but you are likely gifted in acting and drama.

At the same time, you generally do well in business because you are systematic, careful, and patient in your approach to business issues. Steve, you can be a bit impractical, however, and need others to give you sound advice.

You are a good friend and a faithful companion. You attract sound people to you who gladly advance you along the lines of your talents.

EXPRESSION

Your Expression number reveals your physical and mental constitution, the orientation or goal of your life. Some numerologists refer to this number as the Destiny, because it represents a lifelong target at which you are aiming. You work at fulfilling this potential every day of your life. Thus, the Expression number reveals your inner goal, the person you aim to be.

The Expression number reveals the talents, abilities, and shortcomings that

were with you when you entered your human body. Your name, and the numbers derived from it, reveals your development, as well as the talents and issues you will be working with during this life.

For those for whom reincarnation is an accepted philosophy, the vibration of your full name can be seen as the totality of your personal evolution, the experiences, talents, and wisdom accumulated over many life times. Every experience, no matter how great or small, along this evolutionary path has

influenced your development, and brought you to your current state of being. The Expression is your being; the Life Path is the major lesson you are attempting to learn this time around. Time allows the gradual emergence of your

personality. By reading the Expression number below, you will come to understand your basic nature and the abilities and issues inherent in your being.

Your Expression is 28/1

You are a natural leader, independent and individualistic. Steve, you are extremely ambitious, original, and courageous. You employ new and unproven methods. You are an explorer and an innovator. Openness to too many peripheral influences limits and frustrates you. You are self-reliant, confident, and energetic. You possess executive abilities and are most successful at owning or

independently managing a business. You need the freedom to make your own decisions, based on your own ideas. You can be an astute politician. You also possess the ability to influence the opinions of your milieu.

The number 1 symbolizes the front-runner, pioneer, warrior, risk-taker, and daredevil. Generals, top politicians, successful businessmen, self-made millionaires, religious leaders, inventors, activists, and avant-garde artists are often born with a 1 Expression.

Strength and perseverance are central to your success. You must be willing to travel the frontiers of life, away from the beaten path. You possess a great reserve of willpower that must be directed at your goals. You do not give up, but relentlessly pursue your aims.

Steve, you are quite opinionated. People tend to be inspired or repelled by your strong personality.

You have great powers of concentration and the ability to visualize your goals, thus making them more attainable.

You stand up for your convictions and hold your ground. All of these abilities enhance your chances of success in life.

There is a tendency to be self-centered. You can be domineering and, in the extreme, a bully. You can be highly critical of others, complaining that people lack the industry or determination you possess. But this lack of understanding can alienate friends and family members from you. You must learn to control this tendency to maintain harmony in relationships.

Once you are convinced of the inherent correctness of your ideas, you stubbornly -- and sometimes rigidly -- defend and propagate them.

Avoid obstinacy and antagonism. You must cultivate balance, compassion, and

perseverance.

You easily assume the role of protector. You spring into action when leadership is needed.

Pride can be your downfall. You so powerfully identify with your goals and ambitions that you sometimes refuse to see a potential flaw or weakness in your well-laid plans

Steve, you possess strength and determination, which, when applied to any

Page 9

endeavor you are committed to, will lead you to great success in life.

MINOR EXPRESSION

The Minor Expression number is based on the current (or short) name; the name you now use to introduce yourself including your last name.

The influence of the short name is minor in comparison to your full name. Interestingly, the short name often compensates in some way for numbers (and their related characteristics) that are missing or out of balance in the full name.

For instance, a number missing in the full name may show up prominently in the

short name; or a number (or numbers) that appears in excess in the full name can be compensated for in the short name. If a name change takes place later in life through marriage or for professional reasons, it adds or subtracts certain qualities. It can also focus and intensify existing characteristics or talents that may be latent.

Your Minor Expression is 9

The influence of this number makes you more concerned with the well-being of others. Steve, your Minor Expression number increases your sensitivity to the needs of society. You feel an urge to serve humanity in a more direct way.

The number 9 helps you to better communicate and understand all types of

people.

You are more aware of your artistic talent and the need to express yourself. Your name opens you up to a larger view of life. It attunes you to political movements, philosophical theories, and spiritual practices. You are more sensitive to the larger patterns of humanity.

HEART'S DESIRE

Your Heart's Desire is the inner you. It shows your underlying urge, your true motivation. It reveals the general intention behind many of your actions. Consequently, it dramatically influences the choices you make in life. The Heart's desire is seen as part of the larger picture, called the core numbers, which includes the Life Path, Expression, Day you were born, and Personality. But each points to a different aspect of you.

The Expression number reveals your talents and abilities, and your general direction in life. The Life Path is the central lesson you came into the world to learn. The Day you were born is very closely connected to your Life Path. It reveals specific talents you possess, which will be helpful to you in dealing with your Life Path. The Personality reveals how people tend to see you. It also demonstrates what characteristics you are projecting to the world. The Heart's Desire demonstrates the identity of the soul that joined the earth -- you, the

Page 10

spiritual being.

Your Heart's Desire is 11/2

Steve, you have wisdom beyond your years. Even as a child, your understanding of life was considerable, though it likely went unrecognized by others

You are a born peacemaker. You are driven by a desire to settle conflicts and create harmony. You are a healer and a visionary. You long to make the world a better place, and cannot rest until you have dedicated your life to some worthwhile

Your realm is ideas and philosophy. You are attracted to the world of energy more than to the mechanical or material planes. Philosophy, religion, and less traditional forms of healing are among your specialties.

You are obsessed with the quest for enlightenment.

You are extremely sensitive and possess a high degree of intuition. Subtle messages and feelings of others do not escape your attention. You are powerfully aware of the thoughts and feelings of others. Unless you are well grounded, this can throw you about emotionally. Your awareness can be both a gift as well as a problem, because you so deeply desire to please others and keep harmony in your environment

Many 11s were born into extremely hostile or turbulent families. This often resulted in psychological pain, lack of confidence, and shyness during childhood. Somehow, the child with an 11 heart's desire recognized the sources of his family's problem. This created an internal conflict for the child, who naturally loved the troubled parent, but could not cope with that parent's behavior.

Therefore, many 11s are scarred early in life. They understand the sufferings of others and seek to be of service in some way.

This is, in fact, the easiest way for you to heal yourself and find your greatest satisfaction.

Steve, you understand the importance of close, loving relationships. Therefore, you are selective in choosing your friends and spouse. You are a romantic, idealistic, but somewhat impractical person. Unless you have other balancing characteristics (as indicated by 1s, 4s, and 8s in your chart), it is wise to team up with a more practical and realistic partner.

You have a magnetic and charismatic personality. You like pondering abstract matters. Your intelligence is electric. Ideas, solutions to problems, and inventions seem to come to you as if out of the blue.

You are highly charged and intense. This can cause nervous tension. You need to care for your nervous system with ample amounts of rest, a peaceful environment, and proper diet — avoiding extreme foods and drugs.

You are often more concerned with universal justice than with the individual.

Page 11

The 11 is a master number, possessing great potential. It has been entrusted to you as a gift that you are worthy of. The key is to maintain a hold on your ideals and seek ways to practically implement them.

Steve, you have a specific role and gift to give to the world. This requires time and maturity to fully comprehend. But with patience and perseverance, you will discover why you felt different and even unique as a child. At that time, you will discover that what made you feel weak as a child will make you strong and confident as a mature adult.

MINOR HEART'S DESIRE

The Minor Heart's Desire number is derived from the vowels of your current name; the name you now use to introduce yourself. The current name is a refinement of the more complex qualities of your longer name (the full name at birth). It sharpens and bundles the energies that are reflected by your full name. It intensifies certain aspects of your being , and de-emphasizes others. For this reason, the short name often provides insight into what you truly want in life. It also often reveals the extent of your understanding of what you want from this life. It reveals both your strong desires, and the limits you place upon your potential.

Your feelings about your current name are different from your full name. It

affects how you feel about yourself; it changes your identity slightly.

Your Minor Heart's Desire is 7

Your shortened name increases your desire to study, focus, and specialize in one particular field. It increases your need for privacy, contemplation, and meditation. You turn inward more and reflect on your inner nature. You are also more likely to ponder the deeper questions of life.

Steve, your Minor Heart's Desire enhances your intelligence and ability to deal with abstract information. You may find yourself expressing a kind of off-beat humor, as well. Sevens are highly refined and intuitive. They do not take things at face value, but seek the depths of understanding.

PERSONALITY

Your Personality number is derived from the consonants of your full name at birth. Your Personality is like a narrow entrance hall to the great room that is your true nature. It is those aspects that you feel comfortable sharing with people at the outset of a relationship. With time and trust, you invite others into the deeper aspects of your nature; you reveal more of who you really are, in effect, your Heart's Desire, Expression, and so on.

Your Personality number often serves as a censoring device, both in terms of

Page 12

what you send out, as well as what you allow to approach. It discriminates in the kinds of people and information you let enter your heart and mind. For this reason, your Personality is usually much more narrow and protective in its definition than the real you. It can screen out some of what you do not want to deal with -- people or situations -- but it also welcomes those things that immediately relate to your inner nature.

Your Personality number also indicates how others perceive you. No one can be objective about himself or herself. Even our closest friends and relatives have trouble describing how they see us.

Your Personality is 8

Steve, you appear strong and powerful. You have an impressive personality and can influence and even intimidate through sheer force. You have natural authority. Your competence and enthusiasm attract people with resources.

You radiate confidence. People defer to you because they sense your sureness and effectiveness

You also exude a kind of controlled benevolence. People sense that you are generous, once you are convinced of the worthiness of the cause.

It is important for you to dress well. You radiate a kind of raw power and able ness, which needs to be refined and enhanced by your clothing. You may even dress a bit flashy, but that will not harm you. Quality is among your highest priorities, and should reflect in your clothing.

Although most eights have a strong constitution, they can be prone to indigestion, ulcers, and heart disease due to their reckless eating and drinking habits and their propensity to be workaholics.

Steve, your Achilles heel is your capacity for an egocentric attitude. The negative side of your personality can cause you to be ruthless, greedy, and intensely lonely.

Conversely, you can be spontaneous and excited. You are essentially warm and jovial. In your heart of hearts, you want everyone to be as excited and as happy as you. Those who are around you often sense this. Your coworkers and employees usually like you.

MATURITY

Your Maturity number indicates an underlying wish or desire that gradually surfaces around age thirty to thirty-five. This underlying goal begins to emerge as you gain a better understanding of yourself. With self-knowledge comes a greater awareness of who you are, what your true goals in life are, and what direction you want to set for your life. This, in a nutshell, is the gift of maturity: You no longer waste time and energy on things that are not within your own special identity.

Page 13

No matter what your age is at present, your life is being channeled in a specific direction, toward a very specific goal. That goal can be seen as a reward or the fulfillment of a promise that is implicit in your current efforts, often without your knowing it consciously. While the characteristics of this number are usually visible during childhood, we tend to lose sight of these aspects until later in life. But our lives are always being affected by this influence, nonetheless.

Your Maturity number begins to have a more profound impact on your life after the age of 35. The influence of the number increases steadily as you grow older.

Your Maturity is 2

As you mature, Steve, you will discover that you possess a growing talent for understanding and working with other people. Your ability to influence others through tact and diplomacy will grow. These talents will further you along in your

career or business. You will become increasingly shrewd, and will learn the art of discrimination. Your sensitivity to the needs and desires of others improves dramatically. You will be able to evaluate their motivations with a growing clarity and uncanny accuracy.

You find you can get more done by persuasion and gentle guidance than by force.

Steve, you may well have to learn to assume the role as the power behind the throne. Your influence is less public, and you may not always receive the public recognition you deserve. However, your satisfaction comes from seeing the fruition of your own ideas come about, the result of teamwork and cooperative efforts.

If you already have many 2s in your chart, especially in the core numbers, you may become overly sensitive, a characteristic you will have to keep in check. If you have few 2s in your chart, the influence of your Maturity Number will greatly increase your ability to work harmoniously with other people.

L/E BRIDGE

The Bridge numbers in your chart are the numbers that indicate how you can make the relationship between the individual core numbers in your chart easier and more compatible. Bridge numbers have the potential to "close the gap" between the Life Path and Expression number, or the Heart's Desire and Personality number.

In this chapter we will explain what you can do to make your talents, strengths, and specific abilities (Expression number) more easily available and fitting the needs of your main lesson(s), and expected direction of growth (Life Path).

Your Life Path / Expression Bridge number is 0

Page 14

The single digit values of your Life Path number and your Expression number are the same.

This is considered fortunate, and an opportunity to make real progress in the areas of life expressed by the repeated number.

However, if your Life Path number and your Expression number are also identical to your Heart's Desire number or your Personality number (described earlier in this reading), your chart may be somewhat off balance. This may cause you to push the aspects of the repeated number to excess. Read your Life Path again, and ask yourself if you have not focused too much on the aspects described, at the cost of a more balanced approach.

H/P BRIDGE

Several Bridge numbers can be found in your chart. The Bridge number between the Life Path number and the Expression number was described earlier in your reading. The following Bridge number relates to your Heart's Desire number and your Personality number. This Bridge number, the Heart's Desire - Personality bridge, explains how you can make your deeper self -- your needs and desires, your true nature -- more aligned with the part of your personality others tend to recognize when they meet you. With a little exaggeration, you could say that your Personality number is somewhat like your mask. It is the more superficial you; a protective shield and a camouflage of the deeper you. You can easily imagine how much more comfortable, and less self-conscious, the experience of life becomes when your deeper and more real you is closer and more fitting to the personality you reveal on a day to day basis.

Your Heart's Desire / Personality Bridge number is 6

This bridge can only be built through service, more involvement with family and community affairs, and a greater sense of responsibility. Steve, you should allow your creativity to flow more freely.

This bridge number often creates eccentrics - people who are highly inventive and unconventional.

KARMIC LESSONS

Numerology is based on the understanding that we enter life with certain strengths and weaknesses. Karmic lessons are areas that we are currently weak in and must be faced and worked on in this life. There can be more than one Karmic Lesson. These are indicated by the absence of certain numbers in your name.

Page 15

The letters and numbers of your name point to talents and abilities that you possess. These characteristics can be compared to a workshop in which certain tools are available to you. Missing numbers, those that are not represented in the letters in your name, imply tools that are unavailable, and must be learned and mastered during this lifetime.

You may well recognize your Karmic Lessons as weaknesses you have learned to overcome in the course of your life, however, the challenges implied in your

Karmic Lessons will continue to come up occasionally for the rest of your life.

You have a Karmic Lesson 8

Steve, you can attract a considerable amount of money and even be a good business person, but you experience major ups and downs in your financial affairs, due largely to your lack of caution in handling your resources.

You are highly independent and do not want to be told how to do things. You have great problems with authority figures. This stems from a kind of know-it-all attitude and stubborn behavior that prevents you from knowing your limits.

You will have to work at knowing how to handle money. In all likelihood, you will attract enough of it, but it has a tendency to slip through your fingers. This Karmic Lesson forces you to learn your limitations, and the limitations of your resources. Learn to be efficient.

The effects of this Karmic Lesson are diminished if you have at least one 8 among your core numbers (Life Path, Birthday, Hearts Desire, Expression, or Personality Number).

You have a Karmic Lesson 9

Steve, you must learn to be more compassionate, tolerant, and understanding. You have to learn to identify with the trials of others. There will be times when you will have to sacrifice some egocentric ambition for the good of a particular project or some larger goal.

You must learn to broaden your view of life. You have to see things on a larger scale. You do not realize the enormous potential you have in influencing your own destiny and that of others. Therefore, you hold back your efforts at helping people, or furthering a particular social cause. You have an issue with commitment to community or mankind.

The effects of this Karmic Lesson are diminished if you have at least one 9 among your core numbers (Life Path, Birthday, Expression, Hearts Desire, or Personality Number).

Page 16

HIDDEN PASSION

Your Hidden Passion reveals one or more special strengths and talents that you rely upon and are available to you. The Hidden Passion represents your specific field of expertise, or a concentrated talent.

Metaphorically, this talent can be seen as having a power all its own to shape your life. Its existence gives you a strong desire to develop and to express that particular ability. Having the talent demands that you express it, that you experience this part of you, and that you live according to its nature. In this way, the Hidden Passion shapes your personality, and guides your life.

Your Hidden Passion is 1

Steve, you have a strong drive to stand out. You have a great ambition and desire to accomplish. You are highly competitive and want to be the best and the first in everything you do. You are highly energetic and creative. You are capable of influencing and even dominating others. You have highly developed political skills, and can succumb to manipulation unless your ideals are high.

Ironically, there are times when you lack confidence, especially at an earlier age, but you have the strength to overcome this obstacle.

Steve, you are a survivor, a warrior, a leader. Many great athletes and politicians have this number as a Hidden Passion.

PLANES OF EXPRESSION

Each of us experiences life on four different levels: with our physical body; our mental faculty; our emotional makeup; and our intuition. Each of these areas has a specific means of perceiving information. The physical body is capable of touch, taste, pleasure, and pain. It provides us with a sense of the physical world. The mental body, like the emotional and intuitive natures, perceives the invisible worlds. Our minds deal with the world of thought. The heart, of course, is preoccupied exclusively with the world of emotion. Our feelings teach us many things about ourselves and about others. Finally, we have the capacity for direct contact with the higher realms by way of intuition. Intuitive insight comes in a flash. It is not rational — that is the world of the mental plane — but comes as if it were placed at the doorstep of our minds. Intuition, therefore, bypasses all effort.

These four faculties exist in all of us. But each of us depends more on one or two of them for the bulk of our knowledge. Some of us are possessed by our senses, while others live almost exclusively in our hearts, or minds.

Numerology indicates how we as individuals function on each plane. The letters of the alphabet are divided in four categories: physical, mental, emotional and intuitive.

Page 17

The proportion of each category in your name gives a good indication of which

Planes of Expression are strongest in you, and which ones are weaker.

These Planes of Expression can greatly help you to understand your talents and abilities

PLANE OF EXPRESSION PHYSICAL

Your Plane of Expression Physical is 1

Steve, you are active and inspiring; you are daring in business and other areas of life.

You have strong likes and dislikes and live according to your opinions.

You are charming and witty but get bored easily. You work hard and determined and are very goal-oriented. You thrive on the combination of enthusiasm and challenges, the lack of which makes you dull and disinterested. You are like a flare, burning brightly for a specific duration, but must move on to other projects in order to sustain your excitement.

PLANE OF EXPRESSION MENTAL

Your Plane of Expression Mental is 17/8

Steve, you have a great talent as a business person. You can manage large corporations and institutions. You understand how to organize people and direct them toward some larger common goal.

You are highly ambitious and competitive. Money and power are essential to your sense of identity and self- respect.

You must guard against arrogance and superiority. You can be imperious. You are demanding of yourself and others. You seek excellence in all things and refuse to settle for less.

PLANE OF EXPRESSION EMOTIONAL

Your Plane of Expression Emotional is 12/3

Steve, you are very romantic. You are highly creative and imaginative. You fantasize about your perfect "other": a White Knight on a horse, or a beautiful princess. Your response to painful emotional situations -- especially in childhood -- was to create a fantasy world to which you escaped. You may still be doing that as an adult, perhaps to your detriment. Reality lacks the romance and excitement of your fantasies.

Steve, you can be disorderly and disorganized, however. You can be rather

Page 18

moody

You likely have much artistic talent, especially in writing, acting, or singing.

PLANE OF EXPRESSION INTUITIVE

Your Plane of Expression Intuitive is 7

Steve, you have great intuition and insight in abstract and metaphysical matters. You seek a broad perspective on all intuitive matters. You like to provide scientific and rational support to all of your intuitive insights.

You have an inventive mind and likely have a talent as a writer or composer.

BALANCE

People experience different internal responses to life's challenges. Some withdraw from difficult situations to think them through; others withdraw from their emotions, to try and keep themselves from feeling anything. Some explode with emotions, but allow the explosion to pass quickly. Others linger with their feelings, holding on to them well past the time they should have let them go.

Very often, these are conditioned or emotional responses that emerge without

Very often, these are conditioned or emotional responses that emerge without thought or analysis. Maturity and self-development help us to learn new and more effective methods of handling our world and the problems we confront. Your Balance number provides you with the guidance on how best to deal with difficult or threatening situations.

Your Balance is 9

You will find your solutions by empathizing with the concerns of others Steve. You have a gift for understanding a wide variety of people and seeing the broader picture. But too often you retreat to aloofness, a kind of Ivory Tower, in which you regard yourself as an aristocrat, above the masses. Steve, you will find your solutions by coming down to the practical reality where people live. It is in giving that you will receive.

RATIONAL THOUGHT

Your Rational Thought number reveals what can probably best be described as the way you think. Are you a practical, methodical thinker, or a dreamer? Do you frequently allow your imagination to color your perception? Are you unconventional

and original in the face of a practical problem, or do you stick to proven methods? This is the kind of information revealed through your Rational Thought number.

Page 19

Your Rational Thought is 46/1

Steve, you are an independent thinker, original, and not easily influenced by others. You tend to pursue a line of thought stubbornly, and you can be dominating in intellectual discussions.

You tend to solve problems and plan projects with a straight-forward approach. You rarely allow yourself to be distracted. Quite often, you realize at some later stage, that you did not pay enough attention to the available alternatives, and a project may find itself stuck with no chance of further advancement. When you find yourself facing such a situation your frustration tends to be considerable but of short duration. You simply start all over. You do not give up easily.

CORNERSTONE

The first letter of your first name gives an additional indication to your character, particularly as to the manner in which you approach opportunities and obstacles. The first letter is called your Cornerstone.

Your Cornerstone is S

Steve, you are charming and charismatic. You are a warm and devoted person. You are very emotional, the result perhaps of a sad childhood. You are intense and may react in an extreme manner. Don't be too impulsive; take your time before making a decision and carefully sort out your emotions. You are passionate and loving and will experience many emotional ups and downs.

SUBCONSCIOUS SELF

Your Subconscious Self reveals how you react to demanding situations. It indicates your ability to get the most out of your talents and opportunities, especially when you face new or challenging circumstances. The Subconscious Self also reveals the areas of our character that need to be strengthened.

Your Subconscious Self is 7

Steve, you can appear indifferent to your surroundings and somewhat aloof. You are well-balanced and can survive many a stormy time. In time of trial, you withdraw within yourself finding solace and answers, in your creative and analytical mind. You may be a bit of a loner and do not easily share your feelings with others

CHALLENGES

Page 20

Each of us is born with both strengths and weaknesses. Numerology looks at life as if it were an educational process that is meant to bring out and enhance our talents, and turn our weaknesses into strengths. This serves to complete our being.

The job of becoming whole is one in which we must face our weaknesses and consciously work to improve ourselves. There are four Challenges to be faced during our lives. For many of us, the same challenge is repeated, while others have four distinctly different lessons to learn.

have four distinctly different lessons to learn.

The Challenges on your life's path provide specific lessons that you must attend to, and, in order to inspire and help you, life will place you in situations that require the specific characteristics of your Challenge numbers.

The four Challenges you are required to overcome during the course of this lifetime will influence you during different periods of your life, except for the Third or Main Challenge, which lasts from birth until death. The Challenges are fluid periods of your life, not confined to specific years so much as general periods. All of your Challenges are present at birth, like actors standing in the wings.

THE FIRST CHALLENGE

The duration of the First Challenge usually lasts from birth until approximately the age of 30 to 35.

Your First Challenge is 4

You tend to be disorderly and disorganized. Steve, you are impractical and tend to fantasize about projects or possibilities that have little value or future.

You must learn to discriminate between iron balloons and those that will fly. You have difficulty finishing projects because your vision becomes chaotic and loses tract of the path ahead.

You have to learn to be aware of the details. Keep your environment clean and orderly. Be efficient.

You have the ability to be practical and organized but you must learn their value. This will cause you to incorporate them into your daily life and give you the basis for success.

This is the challenge of building a lasting foundation for your life. Steve, you will need perseverance and repeated effort. Get-rich-quick schemes will likely backfire; persistent effort is the key to your future happiness.

THE SECOND CHALLENGE

The Second Challenge usually lasts until the age of about 35 to 40.

Page 21

Your Second Challenge is 4

(This Challenge is the same as the First, as described above.)

THIRD CHALLENGE

This Challenge carries much weight and will be felt throughout your life. For that reason, it is also called the Main Challenge.

As you master this challenge, your life will come more and more under your own control. You will incorporate the positive aspects of the challenge into your character. This is its purpose in the first place. Therefore, there is implicit in the challenge a chance for great reward.

In short, this may be the secret to your success.

Your Third Challenge is 0

This is a less demanding challenge. Growth is allowed to take place without one particularly serious obstacle. This does not mean that there will not be challenges on your path, but there is no single and consistent challenge during this period.

Steve, you are being challenged to stay faithful and focused on your highest ideals.

There is an opportunity to go deeper within yourself, and discover the inner being that is you.

THE FOURTH CHALLENGE

The Fourth Challenge is most strongly felt during the latter part of our lives, beginning at the age of approximately 45.

Your Fourth Challenge is 0

(This Challenge is the same as the Third, as described above.)

PINNACLES

The Pinnacles are four long-term cycles, or periods, on our Life Path. Each Pinnacle represents a particular lesson we are working on. The first Pinnacle usually lasts from birth to between the ages of 30 and 35 (your specific Pinnacle periods are provided below). The middle two Pinnacles each last nine years. The last Pinnacle will stay with you for the remainder of your life.

Page 22

The Pinnacles are very important. The transition from one Pinnacle to the next is always strongly felt. Your Pinnacles reveal the general conditions and events you will experience during the period. The Pinnacle describes the atmosphere, or the essential challenge you will be faced with.

You can prepare yourself for the times ahead by knowing your approaching Pinnacle number.

The transition from one Pinnacle to the next is usually prepared for approximately 2 years in advance. The latter part of that two year period is approximately 2 years in advance. The latter part of that two year period is particularly strong. Steve, you will likely make some life-altering decisions -- marriage, job or career change, or any number of major changes in your character. Perhaps the most strongly felt change -- internally as well as externally -- is the transition from the first to the second Pinnacle. This change usually takes place in

your late 20s or early 30s -- the exact date depends on your Life Path number and is provided below. You begin to feel the impact of this coming change approximately two years prior. This is usually a difficult transition, but once crossed usually provides a clear sense of direction in one's life. It also gives you a much firmer sense of your identity. It is a gateway to maturity.

Your First Pinnacle (from birth until age 35) is 8

Steve, under the influences of this Pinnacle, you will have greatly enhanced talent for dealing successfully with business and finances. This is a time of material growth, a time of expansion and reward. It is the cycle of harvest.

The 8 Pinnacle also increases your personal power. You have sound judgment and vision. In fact, this is the basis of your financial success.

People sense your power and effectiveness. They defer to you much more

easily, and look to you for answers. This makes it easier for you to use power without having to be a bully or force your way through situations. They perceive your able ness and want to join you in your vision. Others have faith in you.

You will be able to organize large enterprises. Problems do not threaten you so much as provide a challenge. You yourself sense your enhanced personal powers and feel a growing sense of stability and centeredness. You will be capable of influencing matter in an almost magical way. As a result, you are extremely goal oriented, moving toward the realization of your dreams with confidence and clarity. Steve, your challenge during this period is to maintain a hold on your human and

spiritual values. You must remain balanced between heaven and earth. There will be enormous temptations to make money and status your only priorities, excluding the more human or immaterial matters entirely. This will undoubtedly lead to losses. You are being tested and instructed in the real value of money -- it's natural place in life. If money is placed on a high altar, overshadowing all other facets of life, you will become its slave.

If you are balanced in your approach to money, and have proper perspective,

Page 23

this can be a truly rewarding period, both materially and spiritually. That is the true promise of the 8.

The number 8 symbolizes the balance between the finite and infinite, matter and spirit. It offers a great opportunity to grow.

Your Second Pinnacle (from age 36 until age 44) is 8

(This Pinnacle is the same as the First, as described above.)

Your Third Pinnacle (from age 45 until age 53) is 7

This is a period of inner development and soul searching. Steve, you will deal with the deeply important questions of personal existence and the meaning of life. You will need time to be alone to contemplate your inner world. This is a time of spiritual growth. You will experience a heightened sense of faith. The power of the universe will be the force that carries you along.

You have an enhanced appreciation of poetry and nature. Walks in nature

provide great therapeutic value and spiritual nourishment.

This is a time of specialization. You will pursue some course of development with fervor and focus. Your ability to concentrate will be greatly increased. Steve, your desire to study in all forms -- reading, self reflection, and contemplation -- will reach an all-time high. Your intuition is much more sensitive, making your path a little easier and more direct, since you know intuitively the appropriate next step.

Under this Pinnacle, you will become an expert in one particular field. Your capacity to penetrate the depths of a subject area is enormous. You will look below the surface in virtually everything you encounter. It is very possible that you will find yourself in a teaching role.

You must consciously work on your closer relationships, especially with your spouse and children. You must explain that your desire to turn inward is not an escape or an avoidance of those you love, but a deep need for knowledge.

During this 7 Pinnacle, spiritual growth, increased knowledge, and wisdom are the big rewards. The 7 Pinnacle provides the basis for contentment in older age, because you now begin to understand life more deeply.

Steve, your challenge is to avoid becoming critical or cynical of others. You can become so withdrawn from society that you look down on others. You may forget that you, too, are part of the imperfect human race. Sarcasm is the lowest form of communication, and a trap you could fall victim to.

Your desire to attain some high degree of perfection is sincere. But that pursuit can make you miserable if you lose perspective and fail to realize the relativity of human existence. Perfection is a Utopian goal, but an unrealistic ambition. It can cause you to be dissatisfied with yourself and others.

The 7 provides the possibility of true refinement, insight, and a high degree of

Page 24

wisdom. This deep understanding is the basis for self-love and true happiness.

Your Fourth Pinnacle (from age 54) is 4

This is a Pinnacle of hard work and many rewards. Steve, you have the opportunity to build a foundation that will last. Your abilities as an organizer, manager, or simply the rock of any institution are greatly increased. You are dependable and reliable. Your ability to fulfill responsibilities is likewise enhanced.

As a result of your industry and perseverance, success is well within your reach. It is a step-by-step process in which you build something by small bricks laid one

You will find yourself caring for others in a very material way. Family and in-laws can be burdensome, since you are seen as the cornerstone of the foundation

Your life is preoccupied with details and responsibilities that must be taken care of. You have set in motion projects that are your children, demanding your constant attention. While there are many rewards, there are also many frustrations. Steve, your sense of your own limits and the consuming nature of details may at times seem overwhelming.

You must remember that things that last require slow growth. You may

mistakenly believe that your progress should be faster, or happen with greater

The need for efficiency, orderliness, and methodical systems limit your creativity. Your challenge is to be flexible and adaptable. Learn to play more and allow yourself to be more spontaneous.

Children born under this Pinnacle will tend to be serious and affected by the financial limitations of their parents. The child may feel the need to leave home early and start a family of his own. He or she must be encouraged to be more farsighted and flexible. The child should avoid jumping into the harsh realities of life too soon.

CYCLES

Like most stories, there are three great divisions of our lives: the First, or opening period, finds us groping to find our true nature; at the same time, we are trying to cope with the powerful forces that are present in our environment, our parents and the socio-economic conditions of our family, for example. The Second Cycle, or middle period of our lives, brings about the slow emergence of our individual and creative talents. The initial part of this cycle — the early and mid 30s — represents a struggle to find our place in the world, while the late 30s, 40s, and early 50s, sees us with a greater degree of self-mastery and influence over the environment. The Third, or final Cycle, can represent a flowering of our inner

Page 25

being, such that our true nature has finally come to fruition. It is during this period that one has the greatest degree of self-expression and power.

Your First Cycle (from birth until age 26) is 2

This is a period of slow and patient development. Steve, you are acutely sensitive to your surroundings and highly intuitive. You possess a gift as a peacemaker and have tremendous power through gentle persuasion. Cultivate the talents of tact and diplomacy. Cooperate with others. Musical and other artistic talents come to fruition. Partnerships are important, requiring understanding and compromise. You need patience and flexibility, but you are under a gentle and benevolent influence in which others are happy to support you. Seek out beauty and harmonious environments, spend time in nature, and enjoy the peace of close companionship. This is a period of slow but steady progress.

Your Second Cycle (from age 27 until age 53) is 6

A time of family, responsibility, and duty. The issues of commitment, marriage, and family all come into sharp focus. When the commitments are made and one responds lovingly and with acceptance, this is a period of much harmony and support. You are greatly needed by those around you. You will be loved and appreciated. This is the best cycle for marriage. In the same way, partnerships go well and much progress is made from joint activities. Conversely, if commitments are not deeply made or are broken, separation and divorce often occur. Any artistic talent you possess will surface and new opportunities for self-expression will present themselves. Steve, you are also under very supportive influences for starting a business. This is a time of progress through flexibility, cooperation, and compromise.

Your Third and last Cycle (from age 54) is 2

(This Cycle is the same as the First, as described above.)

TRANSITS

The Transits are the individual letters of your name that combine to form the Essence, which is the number that reveals a great deal about your year ahead. Your name can be seen as a piece of music that vibrates in time. Each note, or letter, has a specific duration and influence over the course of your life. Steve, your life, therefore, can be seen as a musical score, with the individual letters making specific contributions at given points, just as notes in a musical piece are played at specific points to give a piece of music its rhythm, character, and nuance.

Page 26

The Transits appear as part of your Progressive Chart and will tell you much about specific influences taking place in your life during given years.

THE PHYSICAL TRANSIT

Your Physical Transit for age 50 is E

Steve, you will feel inspired and helpful. There can be change in career, travel, and possibly another residence. You are attracted to new and adventurous experiences, including love affairs. There can also be marriage. Although this is a good letter for finances there may be a lack of focus and a more frivolous attitude, which will adversely affect your chances of real material progress. You feel attracted to new religions and philosophical ideas.

Your Physical Transit for age 51 is E

(The Physical Transit for age 51 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

Your Physical Transit for age 52 is V

The letter V is the most mystical and spiritually powerful of numbers. Steve, you will be very intuitive, experiencing revelations and moments of deep religious understanding. You will be very inspired but will need time alone to contemplate your thoughts. Financially this is also a good time. You will have opportunities to invest in promising enterprises. You pay off old debts and experience increased prosperity. You will have to keep a tight control over your projects and listen carefully to your intuition.

Your Physical Transit for age 53 is V

(The Physical Transit for age 53 is the same as that for age 52, as described above.)

Your Physical Transit for age 54 is V

(The Physical Transit for age 54 is the same as that for age 52, as described above.)

Your Physical Transit for age 55 is V

(The Physical Transit for age 55 is the same as that for age 52, as described

Page 27

above)

Your Physical Transit for age 56 is E

(The Physical Transit for age 56 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

Your Physical Transit for age 57 is E

(The Physical Transit for age 57 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

Your Physical Transit for age 58 is E

(The Physical Transit for age 58 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

Your Physical Transit for age 59 is E

(The Physical Transit for age 59 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

THE MENTAL TRANSIT

Your Mental Transit for age 50 is U

This is an intuitive and sensitive time in which you may find yourself unwilling to put out much effort. Steve, you lack motivation and initiative. A lot of old and long forgotten emotional issues may surface. People you have not heard from in a long time will call upon you. Relatives and family may require effort and attention. You have much creativity and enhanced self-expression. Use it and promote yourself.

This Transit offers an opportunity for great achievements in the arts, especially in writing, acting and music.

Your Mental Transit for age 51 is U

(The Mental Transit for age 51 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

Your Mental Transit for age 52 is U

(The Mental Transit for age 52 is the same as that for age 50, as described

Page 28

above.)

Your Mental Transit for age 53 is L

This is not a time to hurry. Steve, you want to carefully and thoroughly consider your path, plans, and future. This is a mental time, a time to think and look for the deeper meaning of your desires and expectations. Try to take all available

opportunities to travel. Involvement with the arts and expressing your own creativity is highly rewarding during this time. You will make new friends easily. This is also a favorable time for marriage. However, thoughtlessness and careless action may cause you to lose friends and resources.

Your Mental Transit for age 54 is L

(The Mental Transit for age 54 is the same as that for age 53, as described above.)

Your Mental Transit for age 55 is L

(The Mental Transit for age 55 is the same as that for age 53, as described above.)

Your Mental Transit for age 56 is P

Many unexpected events take place during this period. It is a time in which you feel less in control. Do not take any unnecessary risks. Steve, your reflexes are not as fast as usual. You may experience confusion and disappointment in relationships. You have difficulty expressing yourself during this period. This is a time to focus on spiritual development. There will be recognition for your skills and talents, possibly resulting in a promotion or business success. But this is more a time for spiritual growth, than financial.

Your Mental Transit for age 57 is P

(The Mental Transit for age 57 is the same as that for age 56, as described above.)

Your Mental Transit for age 58 is P

(The Mental Transit for age 58 is the same as that for age 56, as described above.)

Page 29

Your Mental Transit for age 59 is P

(The Mental Transit for age 59 is the same as that for age 56, as described above.)

THE SPIRITUAL TRANSIT

Your Spiritual Transit for age 50 is J

Steve, you will have more initiative during this period and may change career direction. There will be opportunities to increase your earnings, however, you will have to research all the details and possible consequences of your actions. Avoid any shortcuts. New responsibilities come into your life. There may be a change of residence. After an initial period of emotional ups and downs, you will experience a form of rebirth and realization, giving you renewed confidence

Your Spiritual Transit for age 51 is O

This is a time of strong emotional experiences, which can affect your health if you let it. Steve, you may find yourself worrying unduly. There is much responsibility placed on your shoulders, with sensitive emotional issues involved. You will find yourself more interested in religious and physical studies. Your leadership abilities are enhanced during this time.

Your Spiritual Transit for age 52 is O

(The Spritual Transit for age 52 is the same as that for age 51, as described above.)

Your Spiritual Transit for age 53 is O

(The Spritual Transit for age 53 is the same as that for age 51, as described above.)

Your Spiritual Transit for age 54 is O

(The Spritual Transit for age 54 is the same as that for age 51, as described above.)

Your Spiritual Transit for age 55 is O

(The Spritual Transit for age 55 is the same as that for age 51, as described

Page 30

above.)

Your Spiritual Transit for age 56 is O

(The Spritual Transit for age 56 is the same as that for age 51, as described above.)

Your Spiritual Transit for age 57 is B

Steve, you may be more emotional and shy than usual. You have a strong need for love and can fall prey to emotional love- affairs. You have to watch for problems with health, especially related to your nervous system. You need plenty of rest. Be receptive, listen to the advice of others.

There will be improvement in your career due to your sensitivity and diplomacy. Others are attracted to you and want to help you in your endeavors.

Your Spiritual Transit for age 58 is B

(The Spritual Transit for age 58 is the same as that for age 57, as described above.)

Your Spiritual Transit for age 59 is S

Steve, your feelings run deep and your awareness is higher than usual. It is a period of rebirth and awakening, especially of hidden aspects of your personality. Freedom in a very real and lasting sense can be your reward. You will experience sudden changes in all aspects of your life, accompanied with spiritual and mystical revelations. Your dreams may be rather intense and should be looked into for messages and understanding of your unconsciousness. There will be confrontations with strong-willed people to test the strength of your convictions. This is an exciting time full of surprises and extraordinary events.

ESSENCE

The Essence Number and the Personal Year Number are the two essential indicators of the forces that will influence your life during the course of any year. While the Personal Year runs from January to January, the Essence is most strongly felt from birthday to birthday. For example, if your essence number is 8 for the year 1988, you would begin to feel the influence of that 8 most powerfully after your 1988 birthday. The influence would begin to wane during 1989 and would finally end at your birthday of 1989.

The Essence number indicates the lessons you will be dealing with during that

Page 31

year. It says a great deal about how you will perceive your environment. It also gives clear advice on how you can be most successful during the year, that is, which types of behavior will be supported by your milieu, and which ones will be less effective.

Your Essence at the age of 50 is 9

This is a period during which your ideals will be tested and forged anew. Steve, you will be broadened in ways that you would never have dreamed possible. You will likely experience a dramatic psychological and spiritual expansion. Old relationships that no longer have a place in your life will be let go of. Even old habits or characteristics that you believed were fundamental to your identity seem to evaporate.

There is a need to forgive those in your past and let them get on with their lives, as you must with yours. Hanging on to negative attachments, either out of anger or a sense that justice has not yet been done, will bring you much misery and, if the courts are involved, protracted lawsuits.

You now have the ability to reach out to the masses. This is a time requiring much self-sacrifice and service to others. You are deeply affected by the pain and sufferings of others, and will feel a need to change your milieu or society for the better.

Those in the arts, especially actors, writers, and other performers, will see an enhancement of their talents and the opening of many new opportunities for advancement.

Steve, your focus is outward in a big way. Teach, perform, and advance society in your own way. Dedicate yourself to a higher cause. These are the areas that will meet with much success.

Conversely, selfishness, negativity, and pettiness will blow up in your face. The time demands a broad view of life. You are now the visionary, who must see the greater trends in humanity.

Out of this will come much compassion for all. This is the lesson of the period: That as you work for the greater good of society, you will be personally rewarded, so much so that your cup will runneth over.

Your Essence at the age of 51 is 14/5

This is an important time of progress and advancement along the lines of your talents. Steve, you will experience a relief from burden and increased personal freedom. Any talent you possess in writing, public relations, and the arts will be greatly enhanced. At the same time, business matters flow quickly and new

opportunities for expansion seem to arise out of nowhere.

People are attracted to you and seek to help you achieve your goals. You

Page 32

possess an almost magical ability to promote yourself. Your fluency with words is greatly increased. You are more charming and attractive, which opens many new doors

This is a period of travel and much learning. Opportunities to visit distant lands, encounter foreign cultures and peoples, and learn about life will come to you. Your personal growth will speed up considerably.

As such, many old habits and outdated methods will fade from your life. It is as if you are being catapulted from the old and outworn, into a new and fast-paced period of personal growth and development.

Steve, your desire to satisfy your senses will also increase dramatically. You must be careful not to overindulge in food, alcohol, sex, and even drugs.

Sudden events and chance occurrences will come your way. You must be alert to your opportunities. This is not a period of sitting back and waiting, but a time to move ahead rapidly.

Your challenge is to remain focused on your more long term goals. Be disciplined in your work. Don't have too many irons in the fire. Sort out the important projects and endeavors and see them through from start to finish. Focus, discipline, and completion are the keys to your success.

Your Essence at the age of 52 is 13/4

This a period of much work, attention to detail, and advancement in your career. Your rewards will be directly proportional to your effort. Much will be demanded of you, but you now have the opportunity to lay a sound foundation for your life.

Steve, you must be orderly and disciplined. Attention to detail in all areas -- especially in personal finances and business -- is a necessity. Your workload will likely increase. Only through the correct management of time and resources will you be able to apportion your energies correctly to meet the increased demands made of you.

You are now being trained in the ways of the world, and only sound practical management will bring you the results you desire. Any flimsy or unsound business practices will likely bring trouble and increased work for you. Only by dealing with reality -- that is, by facing situations exactly as they are, and not how you might like them to be -- will you be able to find the correct path to success.

Avoid feelings of restriction or limitation. Be economical in all your expenditures. Be sure to care for your health. Maintain a healthy diet and follow a sound exercise routine. Pay attention to preventive health methods and get the rest you need. But know when to allow yourself some breathing room. Be moderate in all things, including moderation. Balance is the key to this period.

In-laws and family members can be demanding during this period. People see you as a rock of stability and are naturally attracted to you for support. Be helpful without allowing yourself to be used.

Page 33

You are being called upon to work hard and establish a firm foundation upon which your life will rest for many years to come.

Your Essence at the age of 53 is 13/4

(The Essence for age 53 is the same as that for age 52, as described above.)

Your Essence at the age of 54 is 13/4

(The Essence for age 54 is the same as that for age 52, as described above.)

Your Essence at the age of 55 is 13/4

(The Essence for age 55 is the same as that for age 52, as described above.)

Your Essence at the age of 56 is 18/9

(The Essence for age 56 is the same as that for age 50, as described above.)

Your Essence at the age of 57 is 14/5

(The Essence for age 57 is the same as that for age 51, as described above.)

Your Essence at the age of 58 is 14/5

(The Essence for age 58 is the same as that for age 51, as described above.)

Your Essence at the age of 59 is 13/4

(The Essence for age 59 is the same as that for age 52, as described above.)

PERSONAL YEARS

Your Personal Year number is a strong indication of the trends and

circumstances you will experience during the year ahead. Your Personal Year cycles are based on the Universal Year cycles and therefore run concurrent with the calendar year. Transit and Essence cycles are based on the letters of your name and run from birth date to birth date.

There are nine personal year numbers, which makes up a complete Epicycle. Each Epicycle reveals the progression or evolution of a specific part of your growth. Steve, your progress along this Epicycle can be seen very logically, from the infancy or beginning of a growth period in your life, to the conclusion or

Page 34

culmination of that process. The 1 personal year indicates your first steps in a new direction. The years that follow indicate your progress along this path, concluding with your 9 Personal Year, which completes the cycle. Below is a description of your current Personal Year. It indicates where you are on the 9 year Epicycle.

The Personal Years form the building steps that mark your progress through life.

Your Personal Year for 2005 is 6

This is a year of progress and financial advancement, Steve. Major career opportunities present themselves. It is a challenging year in which personal growth is joined with new responsibilities and challenges.

This is a year of domestic responsibility and attention to the needs of family and friends. It is a time of heart felt emotions and some sacrifice. It is a time for comforting and caring.

You realize the importance of your place within your community. You will be called upon to help others bear their burdens. You are the proverbial friend in need

Steve, you must work to create an atmosphere of harmony and balance. It is often a time when marital issues surface and need attention. However, you possess the understanding to deal with such issues effectively if you apply yourself with love and flexibility.

These deep feelings bring renewal to relationships and often a birth in the family.

May is an emotional month filled with the promise and the stress of imminent changes. June is a breakthrough and a relief. September brings advancement, October self- reflection and readjustments, and December brings a sense of completion and fulfillment.

Your Personal Year for 2006 is 7

Steve, you will experience a strong tendency to spend more time alone, to delve inside and find some answers and to reach a better understanding of yourself. This is not a year for social activities nor is it a year to try and reach goals on a material level. You will find that the necessities of daily life seem to be taken care of by themselves. There is no need to be overly concerned regarding your material needs. Without slacking on your daily duties and responsibilities, you can afford to give more attention to yourself. This is a year for inner growth. It is your spiritual and mental presence that requires attention. Improve the quality of your life, read, contemplate and gain insight in yourself. You are important now. Rest and attend to your health. It is during this year that you strengthen the foundation of your life, after all your success in all matters rests upon the strength of your

Page 35

inner self. There will be many strange and unusual events inspiring you to take a closer look at life and an opportunity is there to experience the joy and beauty of life without any artificial or exterior involvement but purely the growing awareness of yourself. To much concern and desire for material rewards, Steve, will turn this period of your life into a very bad experience indeed, while a "let go and let god" attitude will make this such a fruitful and pleasant year that you may find yourself wondering what you did to deserve this.

Your Personal Year for 2007 is 8

After last year's constant involvement with yourself and very possible occasional doubts about the state of your business or career you will find this year to be a relief, Steve. Things finally work out. Long postponed checks and promotions come through. You see the light at the end of your financial tunnel and an inner strength and confidence is breaking through. This is your year of harvest and, depending on the effort you put out in the past seven years, your reward will be equally large. There is a beauty in these cycles we can recognize and understand and in doing so we find ourselves "in the flow" and there is no more need to try and struggle upstream. So this year you will have an opportunity to involve yourself fully in work and material growth and bring home the rewards, at the same time a certain detachment is also necessary, for you and for the experience you have because it is not the reward that brings you happiness but your experience of life, which is why before the rewarding eight year you have had such opportunity for growth during the soul-searching of a seven year. Give in to your ambitions, you will find yourself more clear and focused and able to pursue and reach your goals. Steve, your power is visible and strong, mental creativity is high, vision and intuition will guide you, and at the same time you are more efficient and focused. There can be loss, serious loss, bankruptcy and failure, because always the

rewards are directly proportionate to your effort and motivation, however you know the effort you put out and you know your motivations, so there must be no room for fear and doubt, only for success and winning and this year will undoubtedly turn out to be a very satisfying year.

Your Personal Year for 2008 is 9

This is your year to finish up all unfinished business, Steve, to clean house and make room for new things. On a material level this is a good time to get rid of unnecessary weight, to give away or sell what you do not need anymore and to pay off old debts. On a spiritual level you will experience a different mode altogether. Your attention should turn to others and their needs, find ways to be of help and give time and energy to worthwhile causes. You must lighten your burden of questions and doubts and the best way to do so is by directing your

Page 36

attention to another direction, away from yourself and you will find yourself becoming lighter and more in touch with your self. This is a time of completion, problems can be solved and over with, strained relationships relax or disappear, the sources of stress in work or business can be better understood and dealt with. Be social and communicative, enjoy music and other arts. Steve, your creativity is higher than usual. There can be some difficulties this year due to your desire to face obstacles and overcome them, decisions have to be taken and courage and strength may be severely tested several times, this is not going to be an easy year all the time but you will feel relieved and on the brink of a positive breakthrough by the end of this year. This is the end of a nine year epicycle and will you will feel many times the excitement of a new and promising era when optimism is your friend but you will also experience the fear of letting go, however the more you let go the more room there is to be filled during the next epicycle.

Your Personal Year for 2009 is 1

Be ready for major changes. Steve, you will be inspired to start new projects or enterprises. You will feel a strong forward push toward new goals.

This is a time for vision and planning. Share your dream with others; make plans, get the necessary support, but, above all, rely on yourself as the driving force. Be decisive!

You are starting a new nine year Epicycle. Everything you do now will affect your future. Do not hold back the inner force of creation. Be direct, daring, and bold.

You will have more confidence and determination this year, particularly in comparison with last year, which was a time of letting go. This year represents a time of birth. It's a time to take charge and to apply yourself to your dream.

This is also a good time to make the personal changes you have long wanted to make: Start a diet and/or an exercise program, or begin a new course of study.

There may be some emotional turmoil, especially in the first two or three months. It takes a while to get the ball rolling. There are many changes you must make and much work to be done.

Be open-minded, organized, and focused. Avoid distractions and procrastination.

Steve, you are at a crossroads. You will need courage and a clear head to stay on the right track.

This is a year of opportunities.

The key months in your year ahead are March, in which you are able to lay the foundation to your plans; April, in which changes take place such as a change of residence or career; July and August mark a time in which you will see the fruits of your labors begin to take place; October represents a major turn in events, often fraught with emotional turmoil; the fall marks a coalescing of your plans into more

Page 37

concrete form.

Your Personal Year for 2010 is 2

Steve, this is a year to carefully protect and nurture your plans. You will be like a mother watching over her children, conscious of every threat, real or imagined. You need tact and cooperation to keep yourself moving forward. There will

You need tact and cooperation to keep yourself moving forward. There will likely be confrontations with others, requiring a subtle and gentle approach. You will have to stay focused on your goals, yet use intelligent persuasion. Being forceful may work against you; compromises will work in your favor.

You will be unusually sensitive and may wonder at times what happened to the drive and momentum you felt last year. This year requires something else from you now -- a delicate sense of balance and a willingness to go around obstacles, without losing sight of your goal.

You may experience some emotional depressions and frustrations. The year is marked by struggle, but there are many opportunities to advance your plans.

This is a year of slow growth, requiring patience.

Be discriminating in your associations and secretive about your plans. Don't talk too much about your ideas; be a bit secretive; guard yourself and your ideas. You are somewhat vulnerable this year.

This is a good year to improve yourself through reading and research. Steve, your growing awareness of the less visible and less obvious aspects of life will

make you much stronger and better prepared for the future.

You must be wise in all your relationships and associations this year. You are far more capable of establishing close, even life long relationships this year. Because sensitivity and openness are heightened, many people find their "soul mate" in a two year.

May is the pivotal month in the year. You are extremely intuitive and sensitive. You are also self-reflecting and better able to influence your peers and situation through spiritual awareness. July brings a culmination of plans and a distinct step forward. August sees things become more concrete and brings a new beginning. September is emotional, requiring adjustments, tact, and inner resolve. The 2 year is a year of growth and advancement, but through gentle means, and the indirect use of your personal power.

Your Personal Year for 2011 is 3

This is a year of expansion and personal growth, Steve. It is a time of heightened personal expression. Creativity and artistic talent come to the forefront. You are lighthearted and drawn to all kinds of social events.

More than most other years, you will entertain and be entertained. You meet new and exciting people. It is a time to appreciate all that you have.

Page 38

You are highly dynamic and charismatic. Your challenge is to avoid scattering your energies. You have a rare opportunity to bring forth new and creative ideas. But that requires discipline and focus.

It is easy to be optimistic and enthusiastic this year and this may result in speeding up your projects. Yet there will be delays and disappointments unless your enthusiasm is based upon the reality of work and concentration.

This is a pleasant time in which friendship is enjoyed and love shared easily. This is often a good financial year, particularly if your creativity is well directed. Surround yourself with upbeat and positive people.

Steve, you may travel more than usual, which in all likelihood will be filled with exciting people and pleasure.

Control this years tendencies towards glamour and extravagance, yet allow your self more room to enjoy and celebrate.

You communicate well this year and are more capable of getting your ideas across

Love is in the air.

February brings changes; June sees the completion of a project and July signals a new beginning. August can be emotional, as can November.

Your Personal Year for 2012 is 4

This is a year to be organized and practical. Take care of details. Commit yourself entirely to your goals.

Steve, your concentration and ability to focus will be much improved over last year. You will have an attitude of realism and determination.

There can be a sense of limitation and some frustration this year. However, it is a year of important opportunities that must be seized. There can be considerable work-related travel.

You must be flexible this year to make full use of the opportunities that present themselves. It will require a combination of perseverance, hard work, and versatility

You will receive recognition for your efforts and support from your friends and family.

It is a good year to buy real estate or remodel your home. It is also a good time

to take care of projects which have been postponed for to long.

Fulfill your obligations and do not be afraid to spend some of that hard earned money. Selling and trading during this year usually is quite successful.

This is the year to work on your foundation and prepare yourself for the many changes that will undoubtedly come next year.

As a result of your hard work, there will be much satisfaction and a feeling of accomplishment

January and February will bring some important change, a new opportunity

Page 39

perhaps. March requires self-reflection and reshaping of your plans. It is a good time to meditate on what lies ahead. June brings a new and important step -- a breakthrough, perhaps -- in your work. October brings changes and a sense of chaos. Steve, you may feel threatened by the changes that are on the horizon. But November brings assistance in the form of a promotion or additional financial support.

Your Personal Year for 2013 is 5

This is a year of dynamic change, Steve. Many surprises will come your way. Be open and ready to embrace new opportunities.

Do not be overly careful this year. This is a year in which a major step forward

can take place if you are willing to take some calculated risks and do a little gambling. Wisdom and prudence is the key, but you will definitely be faced with choices that require fast action and a willingness to act before all the facts are in.

This is an exciting year in which you will be required to promote yourself in order

to take full advantage of the opportunities that await you.

There will be increased opportunity to travel and possibly a change of residence

You may be tempted by the desires of the flesh: too much food, alcohol, sex, and drugs. Be careful and discriminate. You could make mistakes in these areas.

You will have some unexpected adventures and lucky breaks this year.

This can be an unsettling year if you try to cling to outmoded methods or characteristics. This a year to throw off the old and adopt the new. It is a rebirth and a release after last year's struggle.

and a release after last year's struggle.

This is a year in which change takes place consistently, and particularly so in April and May. July is a breakthrough, a time to enjoy life. September can be intense, while October requires tact and balance in relationships.

Your Personal Year for 2014 is 6

This is a year of progress and financial advancement, Steve. Major career opportunities present themselves. It is a challenging year in which personal growth is joined with new responsibilities and challenges.

This is a year of domestic responsibility and attention to the needs of family and friends. It is a time of heart felt emotions and some sacrifice. It is a time for comforting and caring.

You realize the importance of your place within your community. You will be called upon to help others bear their burdens. You are the proverbial friend in need

Steve, you must work to create an atmosphere of harmony and balance. It is often a time when marital issues surface and need attention. However, you

Page 40

possess the understanding to deal with such issues effectively if you apply yourself with love and flexibility.

These deep feelings bring renewal to relationships and often a birth in the family.

May is an emotional month filled with the promise and the stress of imminent changes. June is a breakthrough and a relief. September brings advancement, October self- reflection and readjustments, and December brings a sense of completion and fulfillment.

PERSONAL MONTHS

Your Personal Month for March 2005 is 9

Steve, March is a 9 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and is often emotional because you may have to let go of someone close to you.

You experience relationships more deeply and feel greater warmth for others. You reach out for contact and substance. Other people will also be drawn to open up their hearts and minds to you. This reflects strongly in your relationship with family and friends, but also in the work-environment. People will come to you with their problems, seeking an understanding ear and a shoulder to cry on. You feel closer to your fellow man, and because of your attractive disposition you will receive much support from others.

Good news may come from your work that will boost your self-esteem. Move slowly and carefully where romance is concerned, however, because you are not in a position to make long-range plans.

Your Personal Month for April 2005 is 1

Steve, April is a 1 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and brings new beginnings in several areas of your life. You have more energy and are ready to implement some changes in your life. Display aggression in your career and it will progress nicely. Start new projects. Take a chance. A 6 Personal Year often brings considerable financial gain, particularly in or around the months of April or November.

This is also a time in which matters of the heart come to some kind of climax. Young lovers get married, married people re-commit, and troubled relationships either work it out or separate.

The month of April brings challenges in the area of communication. Be careful what you say and how you say it so you don't stick your foot in your mouth. Actively pursue the things you want in your career, finances, and love-life.

Romance is very positive now and more people find their soul-mate during this period than at any other time during the 9 year cycle.

Page 41

Your Personal Month for May 2005 is 2

Steve, May is a 2 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and focuses on harmony and diplomacy in all relationships, including the work-environment. You are more sensitive and aware of the feelings of others than you were last month and you will be called upon to use those abilities. You will find yourself in the role of mediator/peacemaker in order to maintain harmony in the work place. Become a hard-nosed yet diplomatic negotiator. Find a balance between tact and sensitivity on one hand, and persistence and conviction on the other.

You will be able to meet these challenges and will come through with flying colors. Financial rewards will come. Keep things organized and take care of details or else you may find yourself in chaos by the end of this month. If you are involved in a legal tangle, and quite a few people in this stage of their Personal Rhythm Cycle are, you will gain some ground and find good reasons to be optimistic.

Romance is highly favored now, especially for new relationships.

Your Personal Month for June 2005 is 3

Steve, June is a 3 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and an excellent time to give yourself a break. Take some time off. Enjoy yourself. Don't be too serious. This is a time of enhanced creativity and originality. Become involved in playful activities. Participate in social events. You will meet new people who offer a welcome change to the routine aspects of your life.

Your career may seem unpredictable now but will be much better next month. "Luck" in financial affairs is likely now. Romance is also favorable.

The emphasize of this month is on fun and leisure. Enjoy.

Your Personal Month for July 2005 is 4

Steve, July is a 4 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and it is a time to seriously apply yourself to your duties and responsibilities. Take charge in home, career, and community affairs. Be patient and apply yourself to routine and details diligently. Organize your personal life and your career. Tie up lose ends. Start projects that will improve your living situation such as repairing the house or starting a garden.

Someone in your circle of friends and relatives needs help. Usually, this is a younger person who has not yet found stability or purpose in life.

This month may well bring an excellent opportunity in your own career. Focus on legal affairs. Discipline and effort are the key-words for this month. Romance takes a more serious turn. Expectations are expressed and

commitments made.

Your Personal Month for August 2005 is 5

Steve, August is a 5 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and brings some changes in work and your personal life. It is a dynamic time and nothing goes according to plans. Play things by ear.

Your career progresses well as a result of your enhanced ability to find creative solutions. You make a good impression on some people who are in a position to reward you. There will, however, be a confrontation between you and a co-worker, with long-ranging affects. The outcome will depend on your personal strength and self-confidence.

If you are involved in business deals or legal affairs, some surprising changes may take place. In all areas of your life, flexibility and adaptability are important. Steve, your friends and family require a lot of attention. Social gatherings are frequent and will bring new relationships into your life.

Traveling, perhaps across the ocean, is possible and favorable.

Romance is exciting. Be socially active. If you are single, you could meet someone who will be a permanent part of your life.

Your Personal Month for September 2005 is 6

Steve, September is a 6 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and forces you to deal with the issues of responsibility and loyalty. Devote your time and energy to the needs of family and community. Become involved in some sort of activity that will benefit others financially. You will, and should be, concerned less with your own financial affairs, than with those involving others. Be selfless and generous in all areas of your life. It is a time to forgive and heal. You are highly aware of your bond with the people you love, as well as with neighbors and co-workers.

Legal affairs you might be involved in come to the foreground. Financially, September has the potential to be very good.

Romance is shaky. Choose your words well and follow up on promises. Don't forget birthdays.

Your Personal Month for October 2005 is 7

Steve, October is a 7 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year. Distance yourself somewhat from the affairs and troubles of other people. During the course of this year you have been asked to help, counsel, and advise others many times. Now, give yourself a break. Spend time alone for contemplation and meditation. Study and reading are also favorable. Your workload does not decrease but much of it is routine and allows you to mentally drift. Still, your mind is sharp and you can easily

Page 43

concentrate when you want to.

Inner healing takes place. Old wounds may be reopened. There is some sadness and nostalgia, but the healing is real and needed. This is a time of spiritual growth. Postpone decisions regarding financial affairs, if possible, until next month.

Matters of the heart are also a low priority. You are not very clear this month and would rather not be bothered with it. Emphasize your personal well-being. Diet, exercise, and go for walks. Don't distract yourself from soul-searching by watching television or other mind-numbing practices.

In many ways, your experience of this month will set the tone and direction for next year.

Your Personal Month for November 2005 is 8

Steve, November is an 8 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and is an excellent time for business ventures, financial affairs, and all things related to the material world. You receive recognition for past effort in the form of financial rewards, respect, and possibly promotion. Implement any changes you have been considering in your business affairs. As always, when the 8 shows up in the chart, a certain amount of balancing takes place. Punishment and reward are both possible. If you have put out sincere effort, the reward will be there. However, for some people, this month may bring bad news.

This is a good time to straighten out financial dealings you may have with friends or relatives as well.

This is not a good time to go into debt. But it is a good time for love. Strong feelings and passionate exchanges on the emotional and physical level make this an exciting month.

Your Personal Month for December 2005 is 9

Steve, December is a 9 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and it is the second time this year that some letting go has to be done. A relationship is going to end. This can cause some distress, but there are also feelings of gratitude. Your feelings run deep, but you have difficulty expressing them.

You feel vulnerable and emotional. You are attracted to giving your time and energy to something outside of yourself.

Clean out the garage or attic and donate the excess to charity.

There are changes in the work situation, such as a shift in personnel. In a strange turn of events, you may find yourself having to defend your actions and motivations. Your honesty may be questioned.

If you are single, you may meet someone later this month.

If you are committed, you may feel you are involved in a roller-coaster kind of relationship. Not to worry, things calm down by the end of the month.

Your Personal Month for January 2006 is 8

Steve, January is an 8 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year and brings success and reward from past effort. Self-reliance and confidence are the keys to success this month. Stand up for yourself and show stubborn persistence.

Your career is stable, with few ups and downs, but your finances are less secure. A conservative attitude to money matters is favorable.

Your attention is focused on long-term planning. You have good ideas that may well turn into an additional source of income later this year (during or around October). You also become interested in new avenues of thought or spiritual paths, which will inspire you to study or read.

This month's emphasize is on long-term goals.
Friends and relatives feel that you are a little distant, and may get on your case in the hope that you will spend more time with them.

Romance is not particularly important. If you are involved with someone, feelings deepen and the bond becomes stronger.

Your Personal Month for February 2006 is 9

Steve, February is a 9 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. It brings a number of changes, most of them occurring inside of you. You awaken to new feelings about your job, your house, and the people around you. It is a time of reevaluating the choices and decisions you have made over the past several years. You gain clarity and understand your motivations and needs better.

You may cause some practical changes as a result of this, and even distance yourself from outdated habits or relationships. There may be some emotional turmoil connected to this, but the feeling of relief is more prominent. This is a tricky time in all areas of relationships.

Steve, your irritation threshold is lower than usual. Irrational demands and lack of patience from your side may bring on feelings of quilt and you will probably find yourself apologizing more than once. You have strong idealistic, humanitarian, and spiritual feelings and may want to become more involved in some practical endeavors concerning one or more of these areas of life. However, you will probably postpone any active involvement for the time being, because you feel the time is not right.

Most important this month, is your enhanced clarity in all matters concerning your life and the direction it is taking.

It is a time of re-assessment of your values and priorities and the influence of this month will be felt for a long time to come.

The practical aspects of career, business, relationships, and romance are all on the back-burner, but the inner-changes that take place represent a much larger step forward than you will probably realize at this time.

Your Personal Month for March 2006 is 1

Steve, March is a 1 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year and, while you may still have a case of the blues on the early days of this month, March soon brings optimism, increased energy, and excitement. You are intellectually sharp and imaginative. You feel that anything is possible and that the sky is the limit.

Against the background of self-reflection and soul-searching that's such a major part of this year is this month's sense of spring-time in your heart. This is an excellent time to take on new challenges in your career, to start new endeavors, or, if you are in business or sales, to go out and snare that important new client.

Often, this month brings financial gain, but your attention is more directed towards intellectual accomplishments. Your pride and self-esteem get a boost. A more difficult aspect of this month is your relationship with loved ones. You

A more difficult aspect of this month is your relationship with loved ones. You lack the necessary sensitivity to respond properly to the needs of those close to you. Steve, you are under the illusion that everyone feels the way you do; that problems are only minor impediments that can be taken in stride. However, your optimistic attitude also inspires them, and they grudgingly respect you for the way you seem to be handling things.

A romantic experience brings passion and excitement either late this month or early next month.

Your Personal Month for April 2006 is 2

Steve, April is a 2 Personal Month in a 7 Personal year. Now the pendulum swings back from the insensitivity of last month to heightened awareness, especially of others. You are aware of the emotional subtleties that lie beneath the surfaces. You take nothing for granted. Your wisdom and diplomacy will surprise people and prevent several situations from becoming explosive.

Relationships with both subordinates and higher-ups will improve. You receive support and are well-spoken of. Your intuition is keen; rely on it, and respect any premonitions you may have. Someone you meet sparks your interest, but you may find that the person is unstable and fragile. You play the role of teacher and counselor in this relationship.

Steve, your understanding and intuition also offer you the means to heal formerly difficult relationships this month.

Your Personal Month for May 2006 is 3

Page 46

Steve, May is a 3 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year and is an excellent time for leisure and play. Take time off and, if possible, go on vacation. Get in touch with the inner you, daydream, and share those feelings and thoughts with someone you trust. Your need for others heightens.

You sense changes on the horizon, but feel you are in limbo, waiting for events to provide a new direction. Seek the advice, perspective, and insight of others. You continue to make a good impression on those you work with, but not

You continue to make a good impression on those you work with, but not because of enhanced sensitivity and awareness, as was the case in April, but because of your ability to express yourself well and motivate others to see things your way. Be careful not to become manipulative.

This is a "lucky" month. You're in the right place at the right time and coincidences will occur in your favor. You are more attractive to the opposite sex then usual and may receive some interesting proposals.

Your Personal Month for June 2006 is 4

Steve, June is a 4 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. It may prove to be the busiest month of the year. Work is demanding. Responsibilities and duties could become frustrating. You've got to stick to the routine and, consequently, you may become bored with your environment.

Your energy level is high and you want things to change. Reorganize your personal life. Manage your time more efficiently. Work on the house or garden so that you can enjoy improvements in your environment as well as your work life.

You are more serious this month than you were last month. Don't take chances in financial affairs. It is better to save than to spend. Open your heart to your loved ones. They may sense your preoccupation with work and details, and need you to reach out to them.

Your Personal Month for July 2006 is 5

Steve, July is a 5 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. It is a time of unexpected events. Be flexible, especially in thought.

Let old concepts and dogma go. This is a time of incredible growth, mentally as well as spiritually, but you have to allow such growth to occur.

New information comes to you. You have the opportunity to change old ideas about life or people. Your circumstances could even change. Travel is also possible and favorable. A sudden phone call could put you on the plane the next

day. Letters or phone calls could come from people you have not heard from in a long time.

Meanwhile, you feel scattered and restless and want to avoid the nitty gritty details of life. Go with the flow; answer demands as they come up and do not try

Page 47

to control the circumstances too much.

Steve, you are mentally sharp and quick to see the meaning of new information. You are also creative and imaginative. This month releases your wilder side, especially when it comes to your social life and love relationship. Within the context of this year's serious and spiritual overtones, July is by far the most dynamic month. Be careful of too much self-indulgence and irresponsibility. Moderation, again, is the key.

Your Personal Month for August 2006 is 6

Steve, August is a 6 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year and with it comes stability and quiet. There is recognition and respect at work, but also the possibility that someone else takes credit for your effort. Apply yourself diligently. Responsibility and duty rule this month. There is financial gain, probably from a source other than work.

Your family and friends need your love and attention; give of it freely. Especially give your time and advice to a younger person. There is a lot of love that surrounds you this month, but you may not be aware of it. Your attention is focused inward and you may want more time alone than you actually have. Maintain balance. The people close to you need attention and you should be there for them.

Your spouse or romantic partner requires much of you this month, too, and your relationship with deepen as a result.

Your Personal Month for September 2006 is 7

Steve, September is a 7 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. Now, more than ever, spiritual growth and self-discovery are highlighted. If you have not been fully aware of this inner search during part of this year, there is no escaping it this month. Dreams will be intense and you won't be able to shake them when you wake up. You will find yourself staring into space more often than usual. You are withdrawing and may experience some loneliness as a result.

You are questioning a lot of things that you had been taking for granted. You think about your life and the direction it is taking. The mysteries of life and death (without being morbid) occupy your mind.

You are mentally sharp and flexible, and you easily keep up with any demands that come your way. Steve, your career, finances, and other mundane aspects of your life occupy a relatively smaller place in your life, this month. Without avoiding your duties, you can let these areas take care of themselves until early next month.

Your friends and family are less demanding.

Romantic ties can be surprisingly strong, however. You have a real desire to share your innermost feelings with the person you are attracted to, revealing a side

Page 48

of yourself that has not been available in such intimacy before.

Your Personal Month for October 2006 is 8

Steve, October is an 8 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. It brings reward and recognition. Often, this is a very good month for all matters related to career, business, and finances. You reap the rewards of what you sowed in the past seven years. (Next year offers even greater rewards than this month.) October gives you the opportunity to peak into the near future because it represents a small scale sample of what next year will bring. The eight cycle is a rewarding time, but there are two important sides to the way it is delivered.

On one hand, it is directly proportionate to the effort you have put out in the past. On the other, you receive exactly what you need to continue on your path. For that reason, you would do well keeping a close eye on your finances, especially to protect yourself from any shortfalls next year. Financial gain is much more common this month (and in the 8 Personal Year). In any case, this is a time to be aggressive in all matters relating to career and finances.

Your Personal Month for November 2006 is 9

Steve, November is a 9 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. Your heightened inner awareness and the long inner growth-process you've been working on this year now reach a kind of completion this month in the form of realizations and insights that in turn improve your self-confidence and faith in the future.

At the same time, this is a period marked by emotional ups and downs as you are releasing old concepts, responsibilities, and relationships that you've outgrown.

You are doing some inner-house cleaning which reflects in work as well as personal life.

Your career may seem somewhat stagnant. You are looking for new opportunities and challenges, but not much will be forthcoming until late this month or early next month. Steve, you should take it slow; perhaps even take some time off for rest.

There will be an opportunity for you to become involved with a good cause, which will prove both personally and professionally rewarding. In the long run, it may even help you financially.

As for money matters, this is not a good time to take chances or spend money on major purchases.

Some of your relationships with friends and relatives are being put to the test. You have grown and changed over the past year and may be a little out of touch with some of the people with whom you were close. In addition, you have become more discriminating about whom you wish to spend time with.

Page 49

Sometimes, the 9 Personal Month brings a personal loss. You may have to let go of an old relationship or even someone you regard as a teacher. Romance is also in a make or break period. If the relationship has real substance, there will be some emotional turmoil but the bond will only become stronger.

If the relationship isn't strong, this will become very clear and cause a permanent break.

Your Personal Month for December 2006 is 1

Steve, December is a 1 Personal Month in a 7 Personal Year. It brings renewed energy and enthusiasm. Your career makes a big step forward. There is financial reward, promotion, and possibly a transfer that brings a welcome change. You will be introduced to someone or several people who are important for your career and can positively influence your future.

While this month brings you and your relatives and friends closer together, the feelings are also intensified and your relationship with some of these people is in a very fragile state. There may be some outbursts of long suppressed feelings that have to be dealt with.

Relationships of all kinds -- family, friends, and co-workers -- tend to be somewhat unstable during this time.

If you are single, romance may become an important ingredient of this month's experience. Steve, you may meet someone new and this person will be an intellectual and spiritual challenge.

The attraction will be based less on physical appearance than on curiosity: there are profound differences between you in point of view and lifestyle, which is fascinating on some level. You learn from this person and, like looking into a mirror, you discover a lot about yourself and the changes that have taken place on a very deep level during the course of this year.

Your Personal Month for January 2007 is 9

Steve, January is a 9 Personal Month in an 8 Personal Year. It marks a period of completion. You have gone through a spiritual growth cycle that resulted in a better understanding of yourself. You have gained much insight.

Now you are entering a time when spiritual understanding must merge with the practical and material side of life. You are moving from a 7 Personal Year, which was dominated by spiritual growth, into an 8 Personal Year, which is focused on the material aspects of your life. This may throw you a little off balance. The year begins with some confusion and self-doubt.

Often, there is financial stress. You need to apply yourself to your career and other worldly matters. This is the year of harvesting your rewards, but before that

Page 50

happens, you need to prepare yourself, to regain your footing.

Now you must become more aggressive and ambitious. January requires effort. It also requires a letting go of outdated and outgrown concepts, habits, and relationships.

For that reason, January tends to be emotional and somewhat insecure. However, you will soon pick up momentum, and your personal power increases.

Romantic and love-relationships experience some stresses. Steve, you are somewhat distant and aloof, which may make your partner feel left out. Spend some time reassuring your mate.

Your Personal Month for February 2007 is 1

Steve, February is a 1 Personal Month in an 8 Personal Year. Now things begin to speed up. Unlike last month, you now feel full of energy and enthusiasm. In fact, you're impatient to start new projects, and must guard against impulsive decisions.

Your career and financial affairs are the areas of your life that require the most attention. There are great opportunities as well as potential dangers. This is the year marked by opposites: times when everything seems to go your way, and other times when it seems the rug has been pulled out from under you. February gives the first indication of what this year will bring but, more important, it challenges you to put your best foot forward, to show what you are made of.

to put your best foot forward, to show what you are made of.

The month may begin with a challenge. You may have to confront one of your biggest fears, which is followed by an opportunity to put that fear to rest once and for all. Courage, determination, and inner strength are the needed ingredients that will make this a successful month and a profitable year. The year can be

characterized by the old carrot-and-stick metaphor: February reveals the carrot -- the prize you can obtain -- but it also shows the pitfalls and dangers; in short, the stick.

Relationships are favorable in all areas of your life. Co-workers show support, friends tell you how much they admire you, relatives make it clear they have confidence in you, and your lover makes you feel you deserve the best.

Your Personal Month for March 2007 is 2

Steve, March is a 2 Personal Month in an 8 Personal Year. The month demonstrates how you can sometimes make more progress and be more successful by staying in the background than by forcing the issue. March gives you ample opportunity to influence others, to make them listen to your ideas, even to inspire them to do things your way. You are tactful and sensitive, yet also driven and motivated. You find better ways to handle challenging situations.

Later this month, you gain respect and recognition and will find yourself taking

Page 51

on a leadership role. Your authority is impressive because you balance force and strength with diplomacy and tact.

Romance is favorable and, if you are single, you may meet someone through work or a business meeting who will touch your heart.

Your Personal Month for April 2007 is 3

Steve, April is a 3 Personal Month in an 8 Personal Year. The events inspire creativity and optimism, as well as a need for flexibility and adaptability. Sometimes, the early part of an 8 Personal Year brings financial challenges and problems. If this is the case, April is the most challenging time of the year.

It is a testing time that forces you to confront your lifestyle and your priorities. With the right adjustments, you can put yourself on sounder financial ground.

The month also encourages a certain detachment from trying to control financial matters too much. Once you stop controlling matters too much, your spiritual understanding of life really pays off in a practical and applicable way.

Last year's opportunities to contemplate and search for insight — which may

Last year's opportunities to contemplate and search for insight -- which may have seemed unproductive at times -- now prove to be your best defense on the battle ground of material progress. You are being forced to achieve a balance between the spiritual and the material, especially this month.

In any case, April will reveal to you how capable you are of doing that. Be generous but don't waste money. Focus on getting things done, but don't let financial reward be your only motivation. Introduce creativity and a playful attitude to the job at hand. And most important; don't let temporary setbacks ruin your ambition. This is a time to reach out, not to suppress.

Romance and relationships continue to be favorable. Social events bring new people. Steve, your self-expression and sense of humor improve, and it is easy to make new friends during this time.

PERSONAL DAYS

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for March 2005

Steve, March is a 9 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and is often emotional because you may have to let go of someone close to you.

You experience relationships more deeply and feel greater warmth for others. You reach out for contact and substance. Other people will also be drawn to open up their hearts and minds to you. This reflects strongly in your relationship with family and friends, but also in the work-environment. People will come to you with their problems, seeking an understanding ear and a shoulder to cry on. You feel closer to your fellow man, and because of your attractive disposition you will receive much support from others.

Page 52

Good news may come from your work that will boost your self-esteem. Move slowly and carefully where romance is concerned, however, because you are not in a position to make long-range plans.

March 1) Decisions needed. Be aggressive. Leadership. Push your ideas, start new projects. Others look at you for direction. You meet someone new. Progress.

March 2) Enhanced sensitivity and intuition. Vivid dreams. Premonitions. You become involved in a dispute and play the role of mediator successfully. Love and romance highly favorable.

March 3) Optimistic, upbeat. Motivated. Excited, looking forward to the challenges of today. Communication is crucial. Lack of focus, scattered but creative.

March 4) Responsibility. Demanding. Opportunity. Be focused, work hard. Show others, they can depend on you, but don't make promises you can not fulfill. Don't procrastinate.

March 5) Change in work environment. Unexpected events may include travel. Restless. Social event may bring self-indulgence. Discipline is needed.

March 6) Family matters need to be rectified. Old friend brings good news. Loyalty. Younger person needs your help. Give of yourself.

March 7) Disappointment, distress. Self-criticizing. Confrontation with loved one. Later in the day; spiritual realization, hope. Understanding.

March 8) Energetic. Drive. Determination. Good for business, signing contracts. Also legal affairs. Recent conflict healed.

March 9) Recent trouble in relationship diffused. Tact and wisdom. Intelligence and depth. Humanitarian. Good day for learning. Shifting of priorities. Don't commit to long-term plans.

March 10) Progress. Other people's support. Focus on money matters. Self-confidence. Also; hard-headed, stubborn. Domestic squabbles. Commitment broken

March 11) Intuition. Revelations. Dreams with messages. Sensitive to animals. Spiritual needs strong. Longing for knowledge. Insecurity. Keep your feet on the

Page 53

ground.

March 12) Transformation. Growth. Reaching out to others; communication. You feel an important change, but are not yet clear about it's true nature. Lack of patience. Don't try to analyze your self. Romance favored.

March 13) Accomplishment in work. Respect. Dependability. Routine matters need to be handled. Moral issues.

March 14) Feelings of freedom. Expansion of interests. Enhanced sense of humor. Laughter. Social events. Romance. New people. Self-indulgence. Lack of concentration and application. Carelessness.

March 15) Progress in career. Good for finances. "Lucky". Sharing thoughts and feelings with relatives and friends. Conflicts solved. Tolerance. Love. Sacrifice. Healing of the heart.

March 16) Spiritual. Soul-searching. Need for answers, knowledge. Impractical, clumsy. Caution when dealing with mechanical stuff. Aloneness. Inner contentment.

March 17) Favorable for contracts. Enhanced personal power. Uninhibited. Generosity. Meeting with old friends. Support. Loyalty. Pay-back-time. Rewarding.

March 18) Changing of priorities. Loss of friendship. Letting go. Emotional, also wisdom. Forgiveness. Tolerance. Compassion. Humanitarian causes. Karmic healing.

March 19) Good for career. Enhanced personal power. Authority. New endeavor. Project involves spirituality and self-expression. Perhaps writing. You feel a closer connection to God and nature.

March 20) Awareness. Fine-tuned and sensitive. You read other people easily and clearly. Peacemaker. Tendency for self-righteousness. You may annoy a few people. Don't be arrogant.

March 21) Involvement in decorating, gardening, or home-repair. Avoid business dealings. Confusion in money matters; get receipts, estimates.

March 22) Hard work, perhaps overtime. Demanding. No room for

Page 54

procrastination. Keep track of details. You make a favorable impression at work. Opportunity. Your courage will be challenged.

March 23) Possible work-related travel. Successful. Good connections made. Money-saving ideas, but keep your thoughts to yourself. Concentrate on

March 24) Work around the house. Family matters. Serious conversations. Love and romance at work. Physically vulnerable, dress warm, eat well. Avoid alcohol.

March 25) Self-doubt. Inability to see the simple solutions. Tendency to make things complicated. Take a break, rest. Spend time alone.

March 26) Financial reward, possibly unexpected. Good day for promotional activities or sales. Social gatherings may bring good new connections. Avoid becoming involved in legal affairs.

March 27) An urge to clean up your environment. Get rid of things. Good day for problem solving. Hidden progress. Someone is supportive behind the scenes.

March 28) Hectic. Adventurous. Need for quick action. Decisions. Leadership. Big opportunity. Your senses are very alert today; sounds, colors, texture strongly experienced.

March 29) Sensitive. Self-conscious. A little out of tune. Bad day for stress, deadlines. Take time off. Romance highly favorable.

March 30) Intelligent discussions. Sharing of ideas. Lack of application but creative and original. Witty. Recognizing the beauty of life. Harmony. Conflict resolved.

March 31) Demanding. Frustrating. Details. Routine affairs. Organization. Also opportunity. Invest in long-term endeavors. Disagreements with loved one on money-matters.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for April 2005

Steve, April is a 1 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and brings new beginnings in several areas of your life. You have more energy and are ready to implement some changes in your life. Display aggression in your career and it will progress nicely. Start new projects. Take a chance. A 6 Personal Year often

Page 55

brings considerable financial gain, particularly in or around the months of April or November.

This is also a time in which matters of the heart come to some kind of climax. Young lovers get married, married people re-commit, and troubled relationships either work it out or separate.

The month of April brings challenges in the area of communication. Be careful what you say and how you say it so you don't stick your foot in your mouth. Actively pursue the things you want in your career, finances, and love-life.

Romance is very positive now and more people find their soul-mate during this period than at any other time during the 9 year cycle.

April 1) Sensitive. Nervous energy. Opportunity to be of service. Feeling a little out of place. A heart to heart talk solves personality conflict. Romance.

April 2) Inspired and optimistic. Self-expression. Communication. Convincing and creative. Important letter or phone call.

April 3) Hard work. Frustrating. Details. Routine. Manage and organize. Tie up lose ends. Opportunity. Long-term endeavors are favored. Avoid confrontations.

April 4) Unexpected events. Monkey wrenches. Be flexible. Trust your intuition. Be decisive. Travel favored. Be social. You meet someone interesting.

April 5) Increased responsibility. Financial opportunity. Romance is strong. Domestic affairs. A friend or family member needs your help and advice.

April 6) Quiet day, contemplative. Mentally sharp, serious, less playful. Insight. Distracted. Need for patience. Spend the evening in a quiet environment but avoid being alone.

April 7) Money matters resolved. Ideas. Visionary. This is a good day to sign a contract or finalize a deal. Go out and spend some money. Romance may entice you to do something irresponsible.

April 8) Completion. Doubts about decisions taken earlier. Problems with someone close to you. Emotional stress. Be creative, active. Find distraction.

April 9) Decisions needed. Be aggressive. Leadership. Push your ideas, start new projects. Others look at you for direction. You meet someone new. Progress.

Page 56

April 10) Enhanced sensitivity and intuition. Vivid dreams. Premonitions. You become involved in a dispute and play the role of mediator successfully. Love and romance highly favorable.

April 11) Optimistic, upbeat. Motivated. Excited, looking forward to the challenges of today. Communication is crucial. Lack of focus, scattered but creative

- April 12) Responsibility. Demanding. Opportunity. Be focused, work hard. Show others, they can depend on you, but don't make promises you can not fulfill. Don't procrastinate.
- April 13) Change in work environment. Unexpected events may include travel. Restless. Social event may bring self-indulgence. Discipline is needed.
- April 14) Family matters need to be rectified. Old friend brings good news. Loyalty. Younger person needs your help. Give of yourself.
- April 15) Disappointment, distress. Self-criticizing. Confrontation with loved one. Later in the day; spiritual realization, hope. Understanding.
- April 16) Energetic. Drive. Determination. Good for business, signing contracts. Also legal affairs. Recent conflict healed.
- April 17) Completion. Feelings of accomplishment. Opportunity for healing mind and body. Treat yourself. Get rest. Lack of concentration. Later, good conversation. Strengthening of ties. Strong feelings. Melodrama.
- April 18) Take charge. Feeling lack of support. Independence. Project finished, start of new endeavor. Important introduction to someone new. Material loss. Remember your keys, wallet, etc.
- April 19) Sensitive. Focus on relationships in work and personal life. Opportunity to help. Counseling. Someone admires you. Tendency to lie. Romance is strong.
- April 20) Creative. Problem solved. Help from unexpected source. News from distant source. Information. Optimism. Pleasant evening. Sharing of feelings.
- April 21) Strong energy. Capable. Persistence. Possibility for major opportunity. Rely on what you know, don't take someone else's word for it. Focus

Page 57

on work. Planning. Avoid emotional Confrontations.

- April 22) Possible trip. Restless. Need to be in playful company. Avoid details. Get of the beaten path. Quick-witted. Good for retail, selling anything. Self-promotion. Social.
- April 23) Good for finances. Not good for negotiations. Practical family matters need attention. Responsibility and duty. Honor challenged. Romance becomes serious. Commitment. Young person needs guidance, strong hand.
- April 24) Strong spiritual overtones. Concentration. Perfection. Faith and gratitude. Mechanical break-downs. Debt repaid. Good day for nature walk.
- April 25) Sometimes financial reward, sometimes loss. Justice from above (as you sow ...). Generosity. Not a good day for gambling. Health improves Exercise. Meeting with old friends. Reminiscing. Feelings of loyalty.
- April 26) Recent trouble in relationship diffused. Tact and wisdom. Intelligence and depth. Humanitarian. Good day for learning. Shifting of priorities. Don't commit to long-term plans.
- April 27) Progress. Other people's support. Focus on money matters. Self-confidence. Also; hard-headed, stubborn. Domestic squabbles. Commitment broken.
- April 28) Intuition. Revelations. Dreams with messages. Sensitive to animals. Spiritual needs strong. Longing for knowledge. Insecurity. Keep your feet on the ground.
- April 29) Transformation. Growth. Reaching out to others; communication. You feel an important change, but are not yet clear about it's true nature. Lack of patience. Don't try to analyze your self. Romance favored.
- April 30) Accomplishment in work. Respect. Dependability. Routine matters need to be handled. Moral issues.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for May 2005

Steve, May is a 2 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and focuses on harmony and diplomacy in all relationships, including the work-environment. You are more sensitive and aware of the feelings of others than you were last month and you will be called upon to use those abilities. You will find yourself in the role of

Page 58

mediator/peacemaker in order to maintain harmony in the work place. Become a hard-nosed yet diplomatic negotiator. Find a balance between tact and sensitivity

on one hand, and persistence and conviction on the other.

You will be able to meet these challenges and will come through with flying colors. Financial rewards will come. Keep things organized and take care of details or else you may find yourself in chaos by the end of this month. If you are involved in a legal tangle, and quite a few people in this stage of their Personal Rhythm Cycle are, you will gain some ground and find good reasons to be optimistic.

Romance is highly favored now, especially for new relationships.

- May 1) Involvement in decorating, gardening, or home-repair. Avoid business dealings. Confusion in money matters; get receipts, estimates.
- May 2) Hard work, perhaps overtime. Demanding. No room for procrastination. Keep track of details. You make a favorable impression at work. Opportunity. Your courage will be challenged.
- May 3) Possible work-related travel. Successful. Good connections made. Money-saving ideas, but keep your thoughts to yourself. Concentrate on business
- May 4) Work around the home. Family matters. Serious conversations. Love and romance at work. Physically vulnerable, dress warm, eat well. Avoid alcohol.
- May 5) Self-doubt. Inability to see the simple solutions. Tendency to make things complicated. Take a break, rest. Spend time alone.
- May 6) Management, organization, business. Visionary. Planning. Financial gain. Details frustrate the progress. Fighters spirit. You force a break-through in career or business. Loved ones may complain about lack of attention.
- May 7) Your momentum slows. Disappointment in career. Emotional turmoil. Lack of drive, persistence. Moody. Good day for hugging and kissing. Focus on people, not things.
- May 8) Renewed energy. Dynamic. New beginning. Concentration. Authority. You take the lead, others follow. Straight-forward. Lacking sensitivity.
- May 9) Practical application of spiritual understanding. Counseling others. Intelligent and sensitive. Intuitive. Not much escapes you today. Romance.

Page 59

- May 10) Upbeat and playful. Creative. Attractive to others. Power to influence others. Deals can be closed. Also a bit scattered, forgetful. Loss of paperwork, documents
- May 11) Busy. Demanding. Self-sacrifice. Forgotten duties catch up with you. Deadlines.
- May 12) Unexpected changes, perhaps travel. Restless. Romantic. Passion. Quick-witted. Social events. Watch for self-indulgence. Lack of discipline.
- May 13) Changes affecting family and friends. Perhaps move or change of environment at work. Increased workload and responsibility. Don't put of till tomorrow ...
- May 14) Vivid dreams, restless morning. Distracted at work. Feeling a little awkward, out of place. Accident prone if too distracted. Avoid social events.
- May 15) Financial reward, possibly unexpected. Good day for promotional activities or sales. Social gatherings may bring good new connections. Avoid becoming involved in legal affairs.
- May 16) An urge to clean up your environment. Get rid of things. Good day for problem solving. Hidden progress. Someone is supportive behind the scenes.
- May 17) Hectic. Adventurous. Need for quick action. Decisions. Leadership. Big opportunity. Your senses are very alert today; sounds, colors, texture strongly experienced.
- May 18) Sensitive. Self-conscious. A little out of tune. Bad day for stress, deadlines. Take time off. Romance highly favorable.
- May 19) Intelligent discussions. Sharing of ideas. Lack of application but creative and original. Witty. Recognizing the beauty of life. Harmony. Conflict resolved.
- May 20) Demanding. Frustrating. Details. Routine affairs. Organization. Also opportunity. Invest in long-term endeavors. Disagreements with loved one on money-matters.
- May 21) Unexpected events. Change of plans. Be flexible. Rely on your intuition. Be decisive. Travel possible and favored. Be social.

- May 22) Responsibilities. Financial opportunity. Domestic affairs. Counsel and comfort. Self-sacrifice. Friendship. Emotional strength.
- May 23) Contemplation and meditation. Mental strength. Insight. Distractions at work. Need for patience. Relax. Avoid emotional confrontations.
- May 24) Money matters improve. Ideas. Visionary. Good day for business. Be generous. Romance shaky. Honesty in communication is important.
- May 25) Creative. Good for finances. Possibly problems with someone close to you. You are misunderstood. Emotional stress. Loneliness. Melancholy.
- May 26) Be aggressive. Take charge. Drive and determination. Originality. New projects. Others look at you for direction. You will meet someone new.
- May 27) Sensitivity and intuition. Dreams. Psychic insights. Success at solving personality problems. Tact and wisdom. Love and romance are highly favorable today.
- May 28) Optimistic and upbeat. Healing. Motivated. Chance to impress others. Communication. Scattered energy. Creative. Romance. Perhaps superficial and irresponsible.
- May 29) Need for dependability. Demanding. Progress. Be focused. Don't make promises you can not fulfill. Don't procrastinate.
- May 30) Change in career. Dynamic. Hectic. Unexpected events, may include travel. Restless. Social events. Watch for lack of self-discipline.
- May 31) Family matters need to be taken care of. Friend or relative brings good news. Loyalty. Guard against interfering in someone else's life.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for June 2005

Steve, June is a 3 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and an excellent time to give yourself a break. Take some time off. Enjoy yourself. Don't be too serious. This is a time of enhanced creativity and originality. Become involved in playful activities. Participate in social events. You will meet new people who offer a welcome change to the routine aspects of your life.

Your career may seem unpredictable now but will be much better next month. "Luck" in financial affairs is likely now. Romance is also favorable.

The emphasize of this month is on fun and leisure. Enjoy.

Page 61

- June 1) Capable. Down to earth. Planning. Important opportunity. Be skeptical, someone is exaggerating, perhaps lying. Avoid emotional confrontations.
- June 2) Travel. Restlessness. Easily bored. Bad day for routine stuff. Look for new ways. Quick-witted. Good for retail, selling anything. Self-promotion. Social.
- June 3) Financial opportunity. Negotiations. Family matters need attention. Responsibility and duty. Romance becomes serious; commitment. Young person needs guidance, support.
- June 4) Spiritual. Soul-searching. Need for answers, knowledge. Impractical, clumsy. Caution when dealing with mechanical stuff. Aloneness. Inner contentment
- June 5) Favorable for contracts. Enhanced personal power. Uninhibited. Generosity. Meeting with old friends. Support. Loyalty. Pay-back-time. Rewarding.
- June 6) Changing of priorities. Loss of friendship. Letting go. Emotional, also wisdom. Forgiveness. Tolerance. Compassion. Humanitarian causes. Karmic healing.
- June 7) Independence. Stand on your own feet. Lack of support. Start of a new project. Important introduction to someone new. Forgetfulness.
- June 8) Sensitive. Nervous energy. Opportunity to be of service. Feeling a little out of place. A heart to heart talk solves personality conflict. Romance.
- June 9) Creative. Upbeat, optimistic. Problem solved. Help from unexpected source. News from overseas. Information. Optimism. Sharing of ideas and feelings.
- June 10) Strong energy. Capable. Persistence. Possibility for major opportunity. Rely on what you know, don't take someone else's word for it. Focus

on work. Planning. Avoid emotional Confrontations.

June 11) Possible trip. Restless. Need to be in playful company. Avoid details. Get of the beaten path. Quick-witted. Good for retail, selling anything. Self-promotion. Social.

Page 62

- June 12) Good for finances. Not good for negotiations. Practical family matters need attention. Responsibility and duty. Honor challenged. Romance becomes serious. Commitment. Young person needs guidance, strong hand.
- June 13) Change of priorities. Self-criticism. Confrontation with loved one. Spiritual realizations. Wisdom. Hope. Aloneness, but comfortable.
- June 14) Ambitious. Good for business. Planning. Authority. Healing in relationships. Influential. Promising news. Lack of care for detail.
- June 15) Feelings of accomplishment. Success. Opportunity for healing mind and body. Pamper yourself. Not a good day for travel.
- June 16) Decisions needed. Be aggressive. Leadership. Push your ideas, start new projects. Others look at you for direction. You meet someone new. Progress.
- June 17) Enhanced sensitivity and intuition. Vivid dreams. Premonitions. You become involved in a dispute and play the role of mediator successfully. Love and romance highly favorable.
- June 18) Optimistic, upbeat. Motivated. Excited, looking forward to the challenges of today. Communication is crucial. Lack of focus, scattered but creative.
- June 19) Busy. Demanding. Self-sacrifice. Forgotten duties catch up with you. Deadlines.
- June 20) Unexpected changes, perhaps travel. Restless. Romantic. Passion. Quick-witted. Social events. Watch for self-indulgence. Lack of discipline.
- June 21) Changes affecting family and friends. Perhaps move or change of environment at work. Increased workload and responsibility. Don't put of till tomorrow ...
- June 22) Inward focused. Tendency to withdraw. Growth. Spiritual insights. Curiosity. You feel special, full of purpose. Trust your instincts. Bottled up feelings need to be dealt with.
- June 23) Good day for business, particularly sales. Successful negotiations. Generosity. Flexibility. Changes. Somewhat insensitive in romance; missed opportunity if not careful.

Page 63

- June 24) Very creative. Disappointment due to disloyalty in friend or family member, later rectified. Miscommunication. Emotional upheaval. Good news in the evening. Love and romance strong.
- June 25) Good for career. Enhanced personal power. Authority. New endeavor. Project involves spirituality and self-expression. Perhaps writing. You feel a closer connection to God and nature.
- June 26) Awareness. Fine-tuned and sensitive. You read other people easily and clearly. Peacemaker. Tendency for self-righteousness. You may annoy a few people. Don't be arrogant.
- June 27) Transformation. Growth. Reaching out to others; communication. You feel an important change, but are not yet clear about it's true nature. Lack of patience. Don't try to analyze your self. Romance favored.
- June 28) Accomplishment in work. Respect. Dependability. Routine matters need to be handled. Moral issues.
- June 29) Feelings of freedom. Expansion of interests. Enhanced sense of humor. Laughter. Social events. Romance. New people. Self-indulgence. Lack of concentration and application. Carelessness.
- June 30) Progress in career. Good for finances. "Lucky". Sharing thoughts and feelings with relatives and friends. Conflicts solved. Tolerance. Love. Sacrifice. Healing of the heart.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for July 2005

Steve, July is a 4 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and it is a time to seriously apply yourself to your duties and responsibilities. Take charge in home, career, and community affairs. Be patient and apply yourself to routine and details diligently. Organize your personal life and your career. Tie up lose ends. Start projects that will improve your living situation such as repairing the house or starting a garden.

Someone in your circle of friends and relatives needs help. Usually, this is a

younger person who has not yet found stability or purpose in life.

This month may well bring an excellent opportunity in your own career. Focus on legal affairs. Discipline and effort are the key-words for this month.

Romance takes a more serious turn. Expectations are expressed and commitments made.

Page 64

- July 1) Change in work environment. Unexpected events may include travel. Restless. Social event may bring self-indulgence. Discipline is needed.
- July 2) Family matters need to be rectified. Old friend brings good news. Loyalty. Younger person needs your help. Give of yourself.
- July 3) Disappointment, distress. Self-criticizing. Confrontation with loved one. Later in the day; spiritual realization, hope. Understanding.
- July 4) Energetic. Drive. Determination. Good for business, signing contracts. Also legal affairs. Recent conflict healed.
- July 5) Completion. Feelings of accomplishment. Opportunity for healing mind and body. Treat yourself. Get rest. Lack of concentration. Later, good conversation. Strengthening of ties. Strong feelings. Melodrama.
- July 6) Take charge. Feeling lack of support. Independence. Project finished, start of new endeavor. Important introduction to someone new. Material loss. Remember your keys, wallet, etc.
- July 7) Sensitive. Focus on relationships in work and personal life. Opportunity to help. Counseling. Someone admires you. Tendency to lie. Romance is strong.
- July 8) Creative. Problem solved. Help from unexpected source. News from distant source. Information. Optimism. Pleasant evening. Sharing of feelings
- July 9) Strong energy. Capable. Persistence. Possibility for major opportunity. Rely on what you know, don't take someone else's word for it. Focus on work. Planning. Avoid emotional Confrontations.
- July 10) Possible trip. Restless. Need to be in playful company. Avoid details. Get of the beaten path. Quick-witted. Good for retail, selling anything. Self-promotion. Social.
- July 11) Good for finances. Not good for negotiations. Practical family matters need attention. Responsibility and duty. Honor challenged. Romance becomes serious. Commitment. Young person needs guidance, strong hand.
- July 12) Strong spiritual overtones. Concentration. Perfection. Faith and gratitude. Mechanical break-downs. Debt repaid. Good day for nature walk.

Page 65

- July 13) Sometimes financial reward, sometimes loss. Justice from above (as you sow ...). Generosity. Not a good day for gambling. Health improves Exercise. Meeting with old friends. Reminiscing. Feelings of loyalty.
- July 14) Recent trouble in relationship diffused. Tact and wisdom. Intelligence and depth. Humanitarian. Good day for learning. Shifting of priorities. Don't commit to long-term plans.
- July 15) Progress. Other people's support. Focus on money matters. Self-confidence. Also; hard-headed, stubborn. Domestic squabbles. Commitment
- July 16) Intuition. Revelations. Dreams with messages. Sensitive to animals. Spiritual needs strong. Longing for knowledge. Insecurity. Keep your feet on the
- July 17) Involvement in decorating, gardening, or home-repair. Avoid business dealings. Confusion in money matters; get receipts, estimates.
- July 18) Hard work, perhaps overtime. Demanding. No room for procrastination. Keep track of details. You make a favorable impression at work. Opportunity. Your courage will be challenged.

- July 19) Possible work-related travel. Successful. Good connections made. Money-saving ideas, but keep your thoughts to yourself. Concentrate on business.
- July 20) Work around the house. Family matters. Serious conversations. Love and romance at work. Physically vulnerable, dress warm, eat well. Avoid alcohol.
- July 21) Vivid dreams, restless morning. Distracted at work. Feeling a little awkward, out of place. Accident prone if too distracted. Avoid social events.
- July 22) Financial reward, possibly unexpected. Good day for promotional activities or sales. Social gatherings may bring good new connections. Avoid becoming involved in legal affairs.
- July 23) An urge to clean up your environment. Get rid of things. Good day for problem solving. Hidden progress. Someone is supportive behind the scenes.
 - July 24) Hectic. Adventurous. Need for quick action. Decisions. Leadership.

Page 66

Big opportunity. Your senses are very alert today; sounds, colors, texture strongly experienced.

- July 25) Sensitive. Self-conscious. A little out of tune. Bad day for stress, deadlines. Take time off. Romance highly favorable.
- July 26) Intelligent discussions. Sharing of ideas. Lack of application but creative and original. Witty. Recognizing the beauty of life. Harmony. Conflict resolved.
- July 27) Demanding. Frustrating. Details. Routine affairs. Organization. Also opportunity. Invest in long-term endeavors. Disagreements with loved one on money-matters.
- July 28) Unexpected events. Change of plans. Be flexible. Rely on your intuition. Be decisive. Travel possible and favored. Be social.
- July 29) Responsibilities. Financial opportunity. Domestic affairs. Counsel and comfort. Self-sacrifice. Friendship. Emotional strength.
- July 30) Contemplation and meditation. Mental strength. Insight. Distractions at work. Need for patience. Relax. Avoid emotional confrontations.
- July 31) Money matters improve. Ideas. Visionary. Good day for business. Be generous. Romance shaky. Honesty in communication is important.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for August 2005

Steve, August is a 5 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and brings some changes in work and your personal life. It is a dynamic time and nothing goes according to plans. Play things by ear.

Your career progresses well as a result of your enhanced ability to find creative solutions. You make a good impression on some people who are in a position to reward you. There will, however, be a confrontation between you and a co-worker, with long-ranging affects. The outcome will depend on your personal strength and self-confidence.

If you are involved in business deals or legal affairs, some surprising changes may take place. In all areas of your life, flexibility and adaptability are important. Steve, your friends and family require a lot of attention. Social gatherings are frequent and will bring new relationships into your life.

Traveling, perhaps across the ocean, is possible and favorable. Romance is exciting. Be socially active. If you are single, you could meet

Page 67

someone who will be a permanent part of your life.

August 1) Increased responsibility. Financial opportunity. Romance is strong. Domestic affairs. A friend or family member needs your help and advice.

August 2) Quiet day, contemplative. Mentally sharp, serious, less playful. Insight. Distracted. Need for patience. Spend the evening in a quiet environment but avoid being alone.

August 3) Money matters resolved. Ideas. Visionary. This is a good day to sign a contract or finalize a deal. Go out and spend some money. Romance may entice you to do something irresponsible.

August 4) Completion. Doubts about decisions taken earlier. Problems with someone close to you. Emotional stress. Be creative, active. Find distraction.

August 5) Decisions needed. Be aggressive. Leadership. Push your ideas,

start new projects. Others look at you for direction. You meet someone new. Progress.

August 6) Enhanced sensitivity and intuition. Vivid dreams. Premonitions. You become involved in a dispute and play the role of mediator successfully. Love and romance highly favorable.

August 7) Optimistic, upbeat. Motivated. Excited, looking forward to the challenges of today. Communication is crucial. Lack of focus, scattered but creative.

August 8) Responsibility. Demanding. Opportunity. Be focused, work hard. Show others, they can depend on you, but don't make promises you can not fulfill. Don't procrastinate.

August 9) Unexpected events. Monkey wrenches. Be flexible. Trust your intuition. Be decisive. Travel favored. Be social. You meet someone interesting.

August 10) Family matters need to be rectified. Old friend brings good news. Loyalty. Younger person needs your help. Give of yourself.

August 11) Inward focused. Tendency to withdraw. Growth. Spiritual insights. Curiosity. You feel special, full of purpose. Trust your instincts. Bottled up feelings need to be dealt with.

Page 68

August 12) Good day for business, particularly sales. Successful negotiations. Generosity. Flexibility. Changes. Somewhat insensitive in romance; missed opportunity if not careful.

August 13) Very creative. Disappointment due to disloyalty in friend or family member, later rectified. Miscommunication. Emotional upheaval. Good news in the evening. Love and romance strong.

August 14) Good for career. Enhanced personal power. Authority. New endeavor. Project involves spirituality and self-expression. Perhaps writing. You feel a closer connection to God and nature.

August 15) Awareness. Fine-tuned and sensitive. You read other people easily and clearly. Peacemaker. Tendency for self-righteousness. You may annoy a few people. Don't be arrogant.

August 16) Transformation. Growth. Reaching out to others; communication. You feel an important change, but are not yet clear about it's true nature. Lack of patience. Don't try to analyze your self. Romance favored.

August 17) Accomplishment in work. Respect. Dependability. Routine matters need to be handled. Moral issues.

August 18) Feelings of freedom. Expansion of interests. Enhanced sense of humor. Laughter. Social events. Romance. New people. Self-indulgence. Lack of concentration and application. Carelessness.

August 19) Progress in career. Good for finances. "Lucky". Sharing thoughts and feelings with relatives and friends. Conflicts solved. Tolerance. Love. Sacrifice. Healing of the heart.

August 20) Self-doubt. Inability to see the simple solutions. Tendency to make things complicated. Take a break, rest. Spend time alone.

August 21) Management, organization, business. Visionary. Planning. Financial gain. Details frustrate the progress. Fighters spirit. You force a break-through in career or business. Loved ones may complain about lack of attention

August 22) Your momentum slows. Disappointment in career. Emotional

Page 69

turmoil. Lack of drive, persistence. Moody. Good day for hugging and kissing. Focus on people, not things.

August 23) Renewed energy. Dynamic. New beginning. Concentration. Authority. You take the lead, others follow. Straight-forward. Lacking sensitivity.

August 24) Practical application of spiritual understanding. Counseling others. Intelligent and sensitive. Intuitive. Not much escapes you today. Romance.

August 25) Upbeat and playful. Creative. Attractive to others. Power to influence others. Deals can be closed. Also a bit scattered, forgetful. Loss of paperwork, documents.

August 26) Busy. Demanding. Self-sacrifice. Forgotten duties catch up with vou. Deadlines.

August 27) Unexpected changes, perhaps travel. Restless. Romantic. Passion. Quick-witted. Social events. Watch for self-indulgence. Lack of discipline

August 28) Changes affecting family and friends. Perhaps move or change of environment at work. Increased workload and responsibility. Don't put of till tomorrow

August 29) Change of priorities. Self-criticism. Confrontation with loved one. Spiritual realizations. Wisdom. Hope. Aloneness, but comfortable.

August 30) Ambitious. Good for business. Planning. Authority. Healing in relationships. Influential. Promising news. Lack of care for detail.

August 31) Feelings of accomplishment. Success. Opportunity for healing mind and body. Pamper yourself. Not a good day for travel.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for September 2005

Steve, September is a 6 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year and forces you to deal with the issues of responsibility and loyalty. Devote your time and energy to the needs of family and community. Become involved in some sort of activity that will benefit others financially. You will, and should be, concerned less with your own financial affairs, than with those involving others. Be selfless and generous in all areas of your life. It is a time to forgive and heal. You are highly aware of your

Page 70

bond with the people you love, as well as with neighbors and co-workers.

Legal affairs you might be involved in come to the foreground.

Financially, September has the potential to be very good.

Romance is shaky. Choose your words well and follow up on promises. Don't forget birthdays.

September 1) Disappointment, distress. Self-criticizing. Confrontation with loved one. Later in the day; spiritual realization, hope. Understanding.

September 2) Energetic. Drive. Determination. Good for business, signing contracts. Also legal affairs. Recent conflict healed.

September 3) Completion. Feelings of accomplishment. Opportunity for healing mind and body. Treat yourself. Get rest. Lack of concentration. Later, good conversation. Strengthening of tie s. Strong feelings. Melodrama.

September 4) Take charge. Feeling lack of support. Independence. Project finished, start of new endeavor. Important introduction to someone new. Material loss. Remember your keys, wallet,

September 5) Sensitive. Focus on relationships in work and personal life. Opportunity to help. Counseling. Someone admires you. Tendency to lie. Romance is strong.

September 6) Intelligent discussions. Sharing of ideas. Lack of application but creative and original. Witty. Recognizing the beauty of life. Harmony. Conflict resolved

September 7) Demanding. Frustrating. Details. Routine affairs. Organization. Also opportunity. Invest in long-term endeavors. Disagreements with loved one on money-matters.

September 8) Unexpected events. Change of plans. Be flexible. Rely on your intuition. Be decisive. Travel possible and favored. Be social.

September 9) Responsibilities. Financial opportunity. Domestic affairs. Counsel and comfort. Self-sacrifice. Friendship. Emotional strength.

September 10) Contemplation and meditation. Mental strength. Insight. Distractions at work. Need for patience. Relax. Avoid emotional confrontations.

Page 71

September 11) Money matters improve. Ideas. Visionary. Good day for business. Be generous. Romance shaky. Honesty in communication is important.

September 12) Creative. Good for finances. Possibly problems with someone close to you. You are misunderstood. Emotional stress. Loneliness. Melancholy.

September 13) Be aggressive. Take charge. Drive and determination. Originality. New projects. Others look at you for direction. You will meet someone

September 14) Sensitivity and intuition. Dreams. Psychic insights. Success at solving personality problems. Tact and wisdom. Love and romance are highly favorable today.

September 15) Optimistic and upbeat. Healing. Motivated. Chance to impress others. Communication. Scattered energy. Creative. Romance. Perhaps superficial and irresponsible.

September 16) Need for dependability. Demanding. Progress. Be focused. Don't make promises you can not fulfill. Don't procrastinate.

September 17) Change in career. Dynamic. Hectic. Unexpected events, may include travel. Restless. Social events. Watch for lack of self-discipline.

September 18) Family matters need to be taken care of. Friend or relative brings good news. Loyalty. Guard against interfering in someone else's life.

September 19) Self-doubt. Inability to see the simple solutions. Tendency to make things complicated. Take a break, rest. Spend time alone.

September 20) Management, organization, business. Visionary. Planning. Financial gain. Details frustrate the progress. Fighters spirit. You force a break-through in career or business. Loved ones may complain about lack of attention

September 21) Your momentum slows. Disappointment in career. Emotional turmoil. Lack of drive, persistence. Moody. Good day for hugging and kissing. Focus on people, not things.

September 22) Renewed energy. Dynamic. New beginning. Concentration. Authority. You take the lead, others follow. Straight-forward. Lacking sensitivity.

Page 72

September 23) Practical application of spiritual understanding. Counseling others. Intelligent and sensitive. Intuitive. Not much escapes you today.

September 24) Upbeat and playful. Creative. Attractive to others. Power to influence others. Deals can be closed. Also a bit scattered, forgetful. Loss of paperwork, documents.

September 25) Capable. Down to earth. Planning. Important opportunity. Be skeptical, someone is exaggerating, perhaps lying. Avoid emotional confrontations

September 26) Travel. Restlessness. Easily bored. Bad day for routine stuff. Look for new ways. Quick-witted. Good for retail, selling anything. Self-promotion. Social.

September 27) Financial opportunity. Negotiations. Family matters need attention. Responsibility and duty. Romance becomes serious; commitment. Young person needs guidance, support.

September 28) Spiritual. Soul-searching. Need for answers, knowledge. Impractical, clumsy. Caution when dealing with mechanical stuff. Aloneness. Inner contentment.

September 29) Favorable for contracts. Enhanced personal power. Uninhibited. Generosity. Meeting with old friends. Support. Loyalty. Pay-back-time. Rewarding.

September 30) Changing of priorities. Loss of friendship. Letting go. Emotional, also wisdom. Forgiveness. Tolerance. Compassion. Humanitarian causes. Karmic healing.

Your Personal Day-by-Day Forecast for October 2005

Steve, October is a 7 Personal Month in a 6 Personal Year. Distance yourself somewhat from the affairs and troubles of other people. During the course of this year you have been asked to help, counsel, and advise others many times. Now, give yourself a break. Spend time alone for contemplation and meditation. Study and reading are also favorable. Your workload does not decrease but much of it is routine and allows you to mentally drift. Still, your mind is sharp and you can easily concentrate when you want to.

Inner healing takes place. Old wounds may be reopened. There is some

sadness and nostalgia, but the healing is real and needed. This is a time of spiritual growth. Postpone decisions regarding financial affairs, if possible, until next month.

Matters of the heart are also a low priority. You are not very clear this month and would rather not be bothered with it. Emphasize your personal well-being. Diet, exercise, and go for walks. Don't distract yourself from soul-searching by watching television or other mind-numbing practices.

In many ways, your experience of this month will set the tone and direction for next year.

October 1) Sometimes financial reward, sometimes loss. Justice from above (as you sow ...). Generosity. Not a good day for gambling. Health improves Exercise. Meeting with old friends. Reminiscing. Feelings of loyalty.

October 2) Recent trouble in relationship diffused. Tact and wisdom. Intelligence and depth. Humanitarian. Good day for learning. Shifting of priorities. Don't commit to long-term plans.

October 3) Progress. Other people's support. Focus on money matters. Self-confidence. Also; hard-headed, stubborn. Domestic squabbles. Commitment broken.

October 4) Intuition. Revelations. Dreams with messages. Sensitive to animals. Spiritual needs strong. Longing for knowledge. Insecurity. Keep your feet on the ground.

October 5) Inspired and optimistic. Self-expression. Communication. Convincing and creative. Important letter or phone call.

October 6) Hard work. Frustrating. Details. Routine. Manage and organize. Tie up lose ends. Opportunity. Long-term endeavors are favored. Avoid confrontations.

October 7) Unexpected events. Monkey wrenches. Be flexible. Trust your intuition. Be decisive. Travel favored. Be social. You meet someone interesting.

October 8) Increased responsibility. Financial opportunity. Romance is strong. Domestic affairs. A friend or family member needs your help and advice.

Page 74

October 9) Quiet day, contemplative. Mentally sharp, serious, less playful. Insight. Distracted. Need for patience. Spend the evening in a quiet environment but avoid being alone.

October 10) Money matters resolved. Ideas. Visionary. This is a good day to sign a contract or finalize a deal. Go out and spend some money. Romance may entice you to do something irresponsible.

October 11) Completion. Doubts about decisions taken earlier. Problems with someone close to you. Emotional stress. Be creative, active. Find distraction.

October 12) Decisions needed. Be aggressive. Leadership. Push your ideas, start new projects. Others look at you for direction. You meet someone new. Progress.

October 13) Enhanced sensitivity and intuition. Vivid dreams. Premonitions. You become involved in a dispute and play the role of mediator successfully. Love and romance highly favorable.

October 14) Optimistic, upbeat. Motivated. Excited, looking forward to the challenges of today. Communication is crucial. Lack of focus, scattered but creative.

October 15) Responsibility. Demanding. Opportunity. Be focused, work hard. Show others, they can depend on you, but don't make promises you can not fulfill. Don't procrastinate.

October 16) Change in work environment. Unexpected events may include travel. Restless. Social event may bring self-indulgence. Discipline is needed.

October 17) Family matters need to be rectified. Old friend brings good news. Loyalty. Younger person needs your help. Give of yourself.

October 18) Inward focused. Tendency to withdraw. Growth. Spiritual insights. Curiosity. You feel special, full of purpose. Trust your instincts. Bottled up feelings need to be dealt with.

October 19) Good day for business, particularly sales. Successful negotiations. Generosity. Flexibility. Changes. Somewhat insensitive in romance; missed opportunity if not careful.

October 20) Very creative. Disappointment due to disloyalty in friend or family

Page 75

member, later rectified. Miscommunication. Emotional upheaval. Good news in the evening. Love and romance strong.

October 21) Good for career. Enhanced personal power. Authority. New endeavor. Project involves spirituality and self-expression. Perhaps writing. You feel a closer connection to God and nature.

October 22) Awareness. Fine-tuned and sensitive. You read other people easily and clearly. Peacemaker. Tendency for self-righteousness. You may annoy a few people. Don't be arrogant.

October 23) Involvement in decorating, gardening, or home-repair. Avoid business dealings. Confusion in money matters; get receipts, estimates.

October 24) Hard work, perhaps overtime. Demanding. No room for procrastination. Keep track of details. You make a favorable impression at work. Opportunity. Your courage will be challenged.

October 25) Possible work-related travel. Successful. Good connections made. Money-saving ideas, but keep your thoughts to yourself. Concentrate on business

October 26) Work around the house. Family matters. Serious conversations. Love and romance at work. Physically vulnerable, dress warm, eat well. Avoid alcohol.

October 27) Vivid dreams, restless morning. Distracted at work. Feeling a little awkward, out of place. Accident prone if too distracted. Avoid social events.

October 28) Financial reward, possibly unexpected. Good day for promotional activities or sales. Social gatherings may bring good new connections. Avoid becoming involved in legal affairs.

October 29) An urge to clean up your environment. Get rid of things. Good day for problem solving. Hidden progress. Someone is supportive behind the scenes.

October 30) Hectic. Adventurous. Need for quick action. Decisions. Leadership. Big opportunity. Your senses are very alert today; sounds, colors, texture strongly experienced.

October 31) Sensitive. Self-conscious. A little out of tune. Bad day for stress, deadlines. Take time off. Romance highly favorable.

Page 76